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P R O C E E D I  N G S 1 
(1:30 p.m.)    2 

JUDGE MOORE:  On the record.   Good afternoon.  3 

This  is  a  hearing in CBM2015-00044.   4 

Before we begin,  why don't  we have the part ies  5 

make appearances,  s tart ing with Petit ioner?    6 

MR. SCHEINFELD:  Good afternoon, Your Honor,  7 

and good morning,  Judge Chen.  Robert  Scheinfeld,  Baker 8 

Botts ,  representing Peti t ioners .    9 

And with me today is  my partner,  El iot  Williams.  10 

And if  i t  is  okay with the Board,  Mr. Will iams will  be 11 

presenting Peti t ioner 's  argument  today.   12 

JUDGE MOORE:  Thank you.  Patent  Owner?    13 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Good afternoon, Your 14 

Honor.   Robert  Greenspoon for Patent  Owner,  Mr. Leon 15 

Stambler,  who is  with us  here.   He t raveled from Florida to be 16 

here today.   I t  is  very important .   And Brent  Bumgardner is  17 

with me.   18 

And with Your Honor 's  permission,  I  got  consent  19 

from MasterCard, I  would love to have Mr. Bumgardner help 20 

with the sl ides.   He is  t rial  counsel  for  Mr.  Stambler but  he is  21 

not  counsel  of  record in this  proceeding.   22 

JUDGE MOORE:  Yes,  that 's  going to be fine i f  he 23 

is  not  going to be on the record.   24 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Correct .   25 

JUDGE MOORE:  All  r ight .   That 's  f ine.   26 
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MR. GREENSPOON:  Thank you, Judge.   1 

JUDGE MOORE:  Also,  before we get  s tarted I  2 

would l ike to mention,  as  you can see there is  Judge Chen and 3 

Judge Ward appearing remotely.   I t  appears  that  the camera 4 

there is  above the screen,  so when you look over at  the screen 5 

you will  be looking at  them from their  perspective.    6 

Each party will  have 60 minutes  to argue.   We will  7 

begin with Petit ioner,  who has the ul t imate burden of proof to  8 

show that  the claims,  challenged claims are unpatentable.   9 

Peti t ioner may reserve t ime for rebut tal .   And then Patent  10 

Owner wil l  have i ts  t ime.   11 

I  remind the parties  that  s ince we have remote 12 

judges,  and for  the record,  you need to identify the 13 

demonstratives that  you are speaking about ,  and especial ly i f  14 

you are going to use the ELMO or put  up evidence that 's  not  15 

on a demonstrative,  i f  you can ident ify that  for  the record and 16 

where you are in  the record,  and be aware that  i t  may take a 17 

few moments  for  the remote judges to catch up because they 18 

cannot  s imply look at  the screen.    19 

With that ,  we did note that  there was an objection 20 

to a demonstrative that  came in.   I  will  just  ask for  the record 21 

whether that  has been resolved?   22 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Your Honor,  my understanding 23 

is  that  --  we did meet  and confer  on many objections.   That  24 

was the one that  did not  get  resolved.   25 
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JUDGE MOORE:  All  r ight .   Thank you.  All  right .   1 

We have looked at  the objection and we have determined that  2 

we wil l  consider the object ion without  argument  and,  i f  3 

necessary,  we will  make some sort  of  ruling in the final  4 

decision,  and we will  l ikely simply give i t  the weight  5 

necessary based on the argument .    6 

Okay.  With that ,  Peti t ioner,  how much time would 7 

you like to  reserve?   8 

MR. WILLIAMS:  I  would l ike to  reserve 20 9 

minutes  for  rebuttal .   And I  did bring hard copies  of the 10 

demonstratives for  the Board.   I  recognize that  two of the 11 

judges are not  present .   12 

JUDGE MOORE:  Sure,  i f  you would l ike to  13 

approach.   Thank you.  14 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you.  Your Honor,  may i t  15 

please the Board.  So I  think i t  makes the most  sense today to 16 

just  start  with the claim construction issues that  have been 17 

raised.   And, incidentally,  we do have a motion to exclude 18 

pending.    19 

I  didn ' t  intend to present  arguments  about  that  20 

today.   Instead I  am relying on the briefing,  but ,  of  course,  21 

I 'm happy to address  questions that the Board has at  any t ime 22 

about  that  issue.    23 

The focus of  my comments  today were essential ly 24 

going to be more on the meri ts  of  the inval idity argument  25 
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start ing with what  I  think is  kind of the most  s ignificant  claim 1 

construct ion issue,  and then walking through the prior  art  2 

references to  show how they invalidate the claims.   3 

So just  as  a  reminder,  and this  is  demonstrative 4 

number 5,  which identif ies  the grounds the Board inst i tuted 5 

on,  there were a few different  grounds that  the Board 6 

insti tuted this  proceeding on.    7 

First ,  claims 51 and 53 as  anticipated by Davies .   8 

Claim 55 as  obvious over Davies  and Nechvatal .   Claim 56 is  9 

obvious over Davies ,  Fischer and Piosenka.   And then 10 

separately al l  four of  those claims are obvious over Davies  11 

and Meyer.   And that 's  l ikely the order that  I  am going to be 12 

presenting the arguments  in  today.   13 

So the Board previously construed two terms in i ts  14 

Inst i tut ion Decision,  VAN, and the sequence of the method 15 

steps.   I  don 't  intend to address  that .   I  don 't  think there 16 

remains a significant  dispute about  those two terms.   17 

But  there are two other terms where claim 18 

construct ion issues were raised in the briefing,  and I  do want  19 

to address  at  least  the fi rst  two of these.    20 

And the fi rs t  one will  be whether the steps of  21 

claim 51 are l imited to a single enti ty and then,  second, I  do 22 

want  to  address  an issue relating to the claim term, 23 

information for  ident ifying the account  of  the second party.    24 
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There were three other claim terms that  appeared 1 

to  be addressed in Patent  Owner's  response,  and our reply 2 

brief  does address  those,  I  think,  sufficiently,  so I  don 't  intend 3 

to address  those three in my comments  today unless  the Board 4 

has questions about  them.   5 

So let 's  just  begin with what  I  think is  the heart  6 

here of  the dispute which is  whether the steps of  the claim 51 7 

must  be performed by a s ingle entity.   Patent  Owner has 8 

contended that  they must  be performed by a s ingle ent ity,  that  9 

that  is  somehow a requirement  of  the claims.   And based on 10 

that ,  then they t ry to  dis tinguish the prior  art .    11 

Our content ion as the Petit ioner is  that  that  is  not  12 

--  and demonstrative s lide 8 does show a few places where 13 

this  argument  is  raised in the Patent  Owner response --  the 14 

argument  seems to be one that  is  driven by the specif icat ion.    15 

So Patent  Owner has argued that  in their  view they 16 

say all  of  the claim steps are i l lustrated as  performed by one 17 

enti ty,  in  particular  the originator 's  bank, in  figure 8B, and,  18 

again,  they say that  in  a few places.   They say i t  cannot  be 19 

stated too strongly that  the originator 's  bank, figure 8B, 20 

performs all  of  the steps of  claim 51. 21 

So the problem I  think for  Patent  Owner is  that  i t  22 

is  just  factually incorrect  and they essential ly concede that .   23 

On page 5 of  their  brief  where they say the originator 's  bank 24 

in figure 8B has not  generated a VAN.  And then so for  that  25 
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they rely on the writ ten descript ion port ion of  the 1 

specificat ion,  you know, and the language they use to fi l l  the 2 

gap.    3 

So essentially they are conceding here and their  4 

expert  eventually concedes in his  deposit ion that  i t  is  true,  8B 5 

doesn 't  describe --  doesn 't  depict  the generation step.   The 6 

VAN is  not  being generated in figure 8B.  Instead,  in  that  7 

embodiment  i t  is  generated elsewhere.    8 

And to us  that  essent ial ly shows the defect  in  9 

Patent  Owner 's  argument  because even the preferred 10 

embodiment  that 's  i l lustrated in the f igure,  the one that  they 11 

want  to  say somehow limits  the claims,  doesn 't  l imit  the 12 

claims in the way they are now suggest ing.   Instead, i t  shows 13 

that  the VAN is  generated by some other enti ty.    14 

Slide 10 is  the sl ide that  there is  an object ion to,  15 

so I 'm just  going to skip i t  to  avoid any issue in the record.   I  16 

don' t  think i t  is  relevant ,  because the key step is  the 17 

generating step which there is  no objection to.   That 's  shown 18 

in sl ide 11.    19 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    20 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   21 

JUDGE CHEN:  Going back to what  you were just  22 

referencing,  the portion of  the specification ci ted by the 23 

Patent  Owner,  does that  relate,  nonetheless ,  to  f igure 8B?   24 
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MR. WILLIAMS:  So I  believe i t  does relate in  the 1 

sense that  that  portion of the specif icat ion that  describes an 2 

alternative embodiment  appears  in  the port ion of  the 3 

specificat ion that is  talking about  8B.  And it  says,  you know, 4 

alternatively you could do this  a  different  way and it  explains 5 

what  that  al ternative way is .    6 

So in that  sense,  yes,  i t  does relate to  8B.  There is  7 

no dispute,  however,  that  i t  doesn 't  describe what  is  depicted 8 

in  8B.  And both experts  --  and we can talk about  that  in  a 9 

minute --  but  both experts  have agreed that  figure 8B doesn 't  10 

disclose that .    11 

Figure 8B teaches a different  way of doing i t  12 

where the VAN is generated at  the originator 's  machine when 13 

the check is  created.   And that 's  what  is  shown in slide 11.   14 

This  is  figure 7.   I  think i t  is  important  to  note that  in  the 15 

specificat ion of the patent  i tself ,  figures  6 through 8 are 16 

described together as  i l lustrating a single embodiment .    17 

That  appears  at  column 3,  around line 1.   Column 18 

3,  figures  6 to  8 are described as  a functional  block diagram 19 

i l lustrating a check t ransact ion system in accordance with a 20 

f i rst  embodiment  of  the present  invention,  with figure 6 21 

i l lustrating user enrol lment ,  figure 7 i l lustrat ing how an 22 

originator generates  a check,  and figures  8A and B il lustrating 23 

the authent ication process  when the check is  presented.    24 
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So these figures are al l  described as  related to a 1 

single embodiment .   And as  shown in our sl ide 11,  f igure 7 2 

shows you where the VAN is  f irst  generated.   And it  is  3 

generated in the coder that ,  as  the specif ication makes clear ,  4 

takes place at  the originator 's  computer ,  not  at  their bank. 5 

Just  walking through the remaining part  of  that  6 

embodiment ,  so figure 8B shows what  happens when that  7 

check is  presented at  a  terminal .   So we have skipped over 8 

f igure 8A for a moment ,  which we might  come back to,  9 

although I 'm not  sure i t  will  be necessary.  10 

Figure 8B is  really showing what  happens once the 11 

recipient 's  bank has decided to forward this  check along to the 12 

originator 's  bank to sort  of ,  you know, get  the payment .   And 13 

this  is  the point  where that  VAN is  actually checked.   14 

And as  seen here, what  happens is  both the VAN 15 

and the t ransaction information are read from the check.   And 16 

you will  see in  box 58 there is  an uncoder there which acts  on 17 

the VAN to extract  from the VAN the t ransaction information 18 

which is  then compared to the transaction information on the 19 

check.    20 

So here we have the determining step being 21 

performed by a different  enti ty,  by the originator 's  bank, than 22 

the enti ty that  generated the VAN in the fi rs t  place.  23 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel? 24 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes. 25 
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JUDGE CHEN:  Can you describe the distinct ion 1 

between, on the one hand, the originator 's  bank, and on the 2 

other the originator 's  terminal  or  computer?   3 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yeah, so the idea is  the 4 

originator could create this  check at  home on their  own 5 

computer ,  for  instance,  and then pass  that  check either  6 

physically as  a check,  so l i terally the specif icat ion describes 7 

that  you can print  a  check,  and then,  you know, take that  and 8 

use i t  to  make payment  for  some service to a recipient .    9 

The recipient 's  bank, and this  is  where the 10 

description from figure 8 probably makes more sense to talk 11 

about .   In  figure 8 you wil l  hear about  how the recipient 's  12 

bank then takes that  check,  extracts  the data from i t  and 13 

begins the processing of the check.   14 

And it  is  then eventually forwarded along to the 15 

originator 's  bank.  And it  is  the originator 's  bank that  then 16 

makes sure that  that  check was writ ten by the person who it  17 

purports  to  be wri t ten by.   In  other words,  i t  was wri t ten by 18 

their  customer,  the originator.   19 

Did that  address  your question?   20 

JUDGE CHEN:  Thank you.  Please proceed.   21 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   And then subsequently,  22 

you know, the final  step of  the claim, t ransferring,  again,  23 

that 's  a  s tep that  occurs  basical ly at  the originator 's  bank 24 

where,  you know, once the checking,  you know, the 25 
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originator 's  account  has been checked, then payment  is  made,  1 

and that 's  described in the specification clearly.    2 

So Patent  Owner 's  claim construction argument ,  3 

just  to  come back to the main point here,  is  that  all  of  these 4 

steps must  be performed by a single entity,  even though their  5 

expert  has admit ted that ,  you know, that  would mean that  the 6 

f igures,  the embodiment  that  is  actually shown in f igure 8B 7 

would not  be covered by the claims.    8 

So instead,  according to the Patent Owner,  only 9 

that  al ternative embodiment  that 's  described in that  single 10 

sentence is  the one covered by the claims,  which we think is  11 

just  a  plainly incorrect  reading of the claims.    12 

And instead the much more logical  way to read the 13 

claims is  as  writ ten,  which is  to  say that  there is  no l imit  on 14 

what  ent i ty performs those four steps,  and that  i t  can be 15 

mult iple entit ies  that  do so,  just  as  the inventor described in 16 

the figures of  the patent .    17 

Now, i t  could also cover the case where a single 18 

enti ty does i t ,  to  be sure,  I  mean, our construct ion would 19 

certainly cover that  alternat ive embodiment ,  but  i t  also covers  20 

the one that 's  actually depicted,  whereas Patent  Owner would 21 

exclude that  and instead would cover only the alternative 22 

embodiment .   23 

And so obviously we cite  the case law in our brief  24 

that  shows why we think that  would be a legal  error for  the 25 
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Board to adopt  such a construction, you know.  It  is ,  of  1 

course,  legal  error  to  exclude a preferred embodiment  from 2 

the claim unless  there is  a  very good reason why you would 3 

want  to  do that ,  and certainly no very good reason has been 4 

presented.    5 

We can talk more about  that  as  the hearing goes 6 

on,  I  suspect ,  but the only argument that  has really been made 7 

is  that  there is  no support  for  such a reading in the 8 

specificat ion.   But  my point  is  that there is  such support .   It  is  9 

the figures  that  are actually shown.  So to exclude those 10 

f igures  we think would just  be plainly erroneous.    11 

Even if  the figures  actually disclose the alternat ive 12 

embodiment  instead,  I  st i l l  think the Patent  Owner 's  argument  13 

would be wrong because they are t rying to narrow the claim.  14 

In that  case i t  would be narrowing i t  to  a preferred 15 

embodiment ,  i f  you assume that  the patent  had been rewri tten 16 

in that  way.   17 

But  even that  I  think would be too narrow in view 18 

of the case law from the Federal  Circuit  that  prohibits  you 19 

from import ing l imitations from the specif ication when the 20 

claims don't  suggest  such a l imitat ion.   21 

And, again,  there is  nothing,  i f  you look at  the 22 

claim text  i tself ,  there is  nothing there that  suggests  these 23 

have to be performed by any particular  enti ty.   If  anything the 24 

claim suggests  the opposite because the preamble does have a 25 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 14 

l imitation about  what  ent i ty is  doing something.   In particular  1 

i t  says that  the credential  is  issued by a t rusted party.   So the 2 

inventor knew how to restrict  his  claims to performance by a 3 

particular  enti ty when he wanted to.    4 

The fact  that  he didn' t  in  these four steps is  s trong 5 

evidence that  there is  no such a l imitation and that  i t  can be 6 

performed by any enti ty or  any collection of ent i t ies.    7 

Let  me just  say I  will  --  I  may get  to  this  in  the 8 

rebuttal ,  I  suspect ,  but  I  just  want  to  address  Patent  Owner 9 

has,  I  think,  mischaracterized Mr. Diffie 's  testimony, and 10 

that 's  Peti t ioner 's  expert .    11 

During his  deposit ion he was asked several  12 

quest ions about  the f igures  and the specif ication and he 13 

repeatedly pointed out  what  I  have just  said,  which is  that  14 

f igure 8B doesn 't  show the VAN being generated by the 15 

originator 's  bank.  And it  is  only the alternative embodiment  16 

that  teaches that .    17 

So I  think to the extent  that  Patent Owner t ries  to  18 

suggest  that  Mr.  Diffie  has said something different,  that  19 

would be a mischaracterization of his  testimony.  20 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    21 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   22 

JUDGE CHEN:  So along those l ines,  in  the 23 

beginning pages of  Dr.  Diff ie 's  deposit ion there is  certainly 24 

quest ioning along those l ines.   For instance,  at  page 13: 25 
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"Question:   Figure 8B, going back to that ,  can you 1 

confirm now that  8B is  the set  of  activit ies  that  happens at  the 2 

originator 's  bank in connection with the possible payment  of  3 

the check?   4 

"Answer:   Yes,  I  can."   And it  goes from there for  5 

a few pages.    6 

So is  i t  your argument  that  your witness ,  Dr.  7 

Diffie ,  was ult imately not  testi fying that  figure 8B showed the 8 

enti rety of  the act ivit ies?    9 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So our argument,  I  mean, so Mr.  10 

Diffie 's  testimony is  what  i t  is .   By the way, though he does 11 

have an honorary doctorate,  I  don 't  want  to  overstate his  12 

qual ifications in any way.  But ,  yeah,  I  refer  to  him as Mr.  13 

Diffie .    14 

He testi fied,  i f  you look, I  think,  a  l i t t le  bi t  further 15 

on in the t ranscript  at  page 15,  that  is  when you get  the 16 

quest ion that  really,  I  think,  is  the heart  of  this  dispute.    17 

And the question was:   "Do you accept  in  the 18 

disclosure of  the Stambler patent  one way the patent 19 

describes" --  this  is  at  page 15,  l ine 7,  sorry --  "one way the 20 

patent  describes the authentication process  happening is  for  21 

the originator 's  bank at  that  s tage,  namely blocks 58 and 60,  22 

to recreate or  regenerate the VAN from the check 23 

information?" 24 
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His  answer is :   "That  was not  my conclusion about  1 

what  was happening here."    2 

And then immediately counsel  for  Patent  Owner 3 

referred him to the alternative embodiment  that 's  described in 4 

the specification, reading that  embodiment  to  him, to  which 5 

his  answer was:   "Yes,  that  seems clear ."    6 

Then the question was:   "Well ,  let  me get  back to 7 

my quest ion then.  Would you agree now that  one way the 8 

patent  describes for  making the authent ication decision is  for  9 

the originator 's  bank to recreate or generate the VAN from the 10 

check info?"   11 

His  answer was:   "Well ,  that  may be.   I  don 't  see 12 

that  clearly in  the diagram."   13 

So twice he said,  no,  that 's  not  what  is  being 14 

shown in the diagram.  Only when he was force-fed the 15 

alternative embodiment  did he then say on the next  answer he 16 

gave:   "However, i f  you 're asking me if  I  see i t  in  the 17 

diagram, i t  was described in what  you just  read to me from 18 

column 7."    19 

JUDGE CHEN:  Thank you.  20 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So I  think his  test imony was 21 

clear .   22 

JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  I  appreciate that .   I 'm 23 

looking at  page 18 of his  t ranscript ,  beginning at  l ine 12,  and 24 

the question is  put  to  him:   25 
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"Question:   So in what  we've just  seen at  figure 1 

8B, would you agree that  the originator bank in the described 2 

embodiment  performed all  four of  those steps?"   3 

And then at  l ine 20,  the witness  answers:   "I t  4 

appears  to  me that  all  four of  those steps are performed in 5 

f igure 8B that  we have just  been looking at  in  Stambler 's  6 

embodiment ."   7 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes,  and he says that ,  but  that  8 

is  exactly r ight  after  the text  I  just  read to you where he twice 9 

said i t  is  not  there,  and then was told to look at  the 10 

specificat ion description of the alternat ive embodiment ,  that 's  11 

when he said,  yes,  you know, I  see i t ,  you know, i f  you are 12 

asking me if  I  see i t  in  the diagram, i t  was described in what  13 

you just  read to me from the column 7.    14 

So I  think the problem is  that  he was maybe 15 

confused about  what  the question meant  because twice he had 16 

already said i t  is  not  in  the figure,  and only after  being read 17 

the alternative embodiment .    18 

And then I  should point  out  he went  a l i t t le  bit  19 

further because after  the second time Mr. Diffie  said,  I  don 't  20 

see that  in  the diagram, he got  the quest ion:   "You do accept ,  21 

of  course,  that  we read the diagram in l ight  of  the --"  and then 22 

he began to answer:   "I  understand.   I  presume that  the 23 

diagram exists  to  i l lustrate the text."    24 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 18 

So he understood that  the text  was describing 1 

something about  how you could do this .   But  he twice said the 2 

thing that  is  shown in the diagram is  not  this  alternative 3 

embodiment .    4 

JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  Please proceed.    5 

MR. WILLIAMS:  That  was real ly all  I  had for  this  6 

claim construction issue,  but  I  can come back to that in  7 

rebuttal  af ter  Patent  Owner has addressed i t .    8 

In terms of the second issue of  claim construction,  9 

the issue there is  whether the information for  identifying the 10 

account  of  the second party can be a mere name.   11 

I  think that  dispute is  actually moot .   We have 12 

never relied on a name.  The Davies  reference uses the 13 

identity of  the customer or  the recipient ,  which is  almost  14 

identical  to  the language that  is  used in Mr.  Stambler 's  patent  15 

in terms of ident if icat ion.   So we're not  relying on name.   16 

But  even i f  we were relying on a name, again,  17 

there is  no reason to believe that  the claim doesn ' t  cover that .   18 

In fact ,  the District  Court  opinions on this  point  that  are,  you 19 

know, shown on sl ide 18 are highly relevant .    20 

There in the JPMorgan case the court  noted that ,  21 

you know, there is  nothing about  this  claim element that  22 

requires  to  ident ify an account ,  merely that  you use i t  for  23 

identifying.    24 
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And a name could certainly be used for  ident ifying 1 

account .   I  use my name to identify my account  all  of  the t ime 2 

when I  forget  my account  number.   So there is  no reason to 3 

think that  the claim should be l imited in the way Patent  Owner 4 

is  proposing.    5 

So let  me just  address  some of the relevant  6 

disclosures  of  Davies ,  and this  s tarts  at  sl ide 20 of our 7 

demonstratives.    8 

So in terms of the preamble,  Davies ,  and here I 've 9 

shown the ATM embodiment  in  figure 10.23.   Clearly there is  10 

a payment  that 's  happening as  shown in the annotated 11 

diagram.  So there is  defini tely a funds t ransfer  going on.    12 

There is  a  credent ial  that 's  previously issued to 13 

one of the parties.   That 's  the digi tal  certi ficate that we show 14 

on slide 21,  and in particular  i t  includes at  least  the 15 

customer 's  identi ty and their  public key signed by the bank.   16 

There is  receiving a funds transfer information.   17 

That  occurs  when that  token is  presented to a terminal  in  18 

order to  generate a check.   So when there is  a  t ransaction that  19 

is  going to take place,  you put  the token into that  terminal ,  20 

and what  happens is  the terminal  then forms this  request  into 21 

a message and presents  i t  to  the token.    22 

So at  that  point  the token is  receiving the funds 23 

t ransfer  information.   The token then generates  the VAN and 24 

in particular  i t  does that  by s igning the variable information 25 
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in that  message.   You will  see that  on slide 23,  that  the 1 

elements  9 through 15 are signed by that  token and that  2 

signature becomes the VAN.   3 

There is  then a determining step that  occurs  at  the 4 

issuer 's  bank then,  once that  message gets  over the network to 5 

the issuer.   And in particular  the issuer is  going to check the 6 

signature on that  check and make sure that  i t  was signed by 7 

their  customer.    8 

And that ,  of  course,  involves using the funds 9 

t ransfer  information,  the VAN, and that  customer 's  credential  10 

or ,  you know, in  that  case their  public key to verify that  the 11 

signature checks.  12 

And then lastly,  as  I  already mentioned, there is  a  13 

t ransfer  of  funds that  occurs  i f  everything checks out .    14 

So Patent  Owner has made various arguments  in  15 

their  response about  Davies .   First  they argue that  we conflate 16 

unrelated disclosures.   Then they argue that  the steps are 17 

performed by a single ent ity.   Then they argue that  i t  doesn 't  18 

disclose the steps of  receiving funds transfer  information 19 

when the credential  was previously issued.    20 

Then they argue that  i t  doesn 't  disclose a 21 

credential  at  all  and,  final ly,  that  i t  doesn' t  disclose the 22 

information for  ident ifying the account  of  the second party.    23 

So I  will  do my best  to  address  those here.   As to 24 

the question of relatedness,  I  think the Inst i tut ion Decision 25 
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already captured the relevant  point.   There is  really not  much 1 

more to say other than the way Davies  describes this  check is  2 

that  i t  is  a  s ingle check that  can be used for  lots  of  different  3 

things,  including an ATM transaction.    4 

You could use i t  to  also do a point of  sale payment  5 

at  a  merchant  or  to  just  make a payment  between individuals .   6 

All  of  those things would use the same check and the check is  7 

always described in the same way.  So in our view these 8 

embodiments  are not  unrelated.   9 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    10 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   11 

JUDGE CHEN:  So apart  from the sentence that  12 

was quoted in the Inst i tut ion Decision,  is  there any other text  13 

or  figures  or  descript ion in Davies  that  would connect  the 14 

check to the ATM disclosure on pages 330 and 331 of Davies  15 

and figure 10.23?   16 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Well ,  I  think,  I  mean, you 17 

know, in  terms of a single sentence,  I  think that  the enti rety 18 

of the disclosures on page 330 and 331 are relevant .   So I  19 

wouldn't  necessari ly say that  i t  is  captured by a single 20 

sentence.    21 

But ,  you know, we do note,  for  instance,  on slide 22 

27 we have a few different  excerpts  identified that  I  think are 23 

relevant .   You know, fi rst  just  the general  point  that  Davies  24 
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introduces this  ent ire idea as  being a paper check changed into 1 

modern form which can be regarded as  an electronic check.    2 

So that 's  the idea Davies  is  really describing here 3 

that  we're focusing on,  is  just  this  idea of  an electronic check.   4 

And then what  can you use i t  for?  And he gives an example 5 

of  using that  at  an ATM.  So that 's  one example.    6 

But ,  you know, on page 328 he also says in 7 

describing that  check concept  that the check should contain 8 

all  of  the i tems l isted in f igure 10.22,  suggesting that  that 's  9 

the format  of  the check you would use regardless  of  what  the 10 

payment  mechanism actual ly is ,  what  type of  a  payment  i t  is .    11 

Is  i t  a  payment  being done because you are making 12 

an ATM withdrawal  or  is  i t  a  payment  being done at  a  point  of  13 

sale or  is  a  payment  being done by a check between two 14 

private parties?  Whatever i t  is ,  you use the same check.    15 

So I  think there is  no reason to think that  there is  16 

any difference when you are at  the ATM embodiment .   17 

JUDGE CHEN:  All  r ight .   Thank you.  Please 18 

proceed.   19 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Okay.  As to the issue of  20 

whether i t  is  l imited to a s ingle ent i ty,  we've already 21 

addressed that  that  is  not  a  claim l imitat ion.   But  even i f  I  22 

were wrong about that  and i t  actually was a l imitation that  al l  23 

of  the steps are performed by a s ingle enti ty,  that 's  st i l l  done 24 

in Davies  because the steps that  are being done,  you know, the 25 
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steps that  we're looking at  outside the originator 's  bank are 1 

being done at  the token,  and the token is  clearly something 2 

that  is  working under the control  of  the originator 's  bank.   3 

I t  is  the originator 's  bank that  issues the token to 4 

the customer in  the f irst  place.   And Davies  describes that  5 

token sends a message to i ts  master ,  which is  the,  you know, 6 

the card issuer.   This  is  on slide 29 of our demonstratives that  7 

I 'm reading from now.   8 

And he says,  Davies  also says,  at  pages 325 and 9 

327,  he talks  about  how the token has intell igence that 's  used 10 

on behalf  of  both the customer and the card issuer,  so 11 

suggesting that ,  you know, the issuer is  definitely involved in 12 

the things that  are being done on that  token. 13 

JUDGE CHEN:  So,  counsel?    14 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   15 

JUDGE CHEN:  Am I hearing you correctly then 16 

that  your argument  is  that  the token and the originator 's  bank 17 

are one and the same for purposes of  the single entity 18 

argument?    19 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Well ,  I  think the way I  would 20 

say i t  is  that  the token,  the functionali ty of  the token is  under 21 

the direction and control  of  the issuer.    22 

I  mean, i t  is  certainly the case that  in  the typical  23 

usage case the token is  going to be at  a  physical  location that  24 

is  apart  from the originator 's  bank.   25 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 24 

But  the two pieces are certainly related to each 1 

other.   They are both under the control  of  the issuer when that  2 

t ransaction is  taking place.   3 

JUDGE CHEN:  So your point  being that ,  under 4 

control  suffices  for  purposes of  being the same entity?    5 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Correct ,  yeah,  right .   That 's  the 6 

argument .   7 

JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  Please cont inue.   8 

JUDGE WARD:  Counsel ,  let  me just  t ry and 9 

understand the two differing arguments  you've made here.   I  10 

just  want  to  make sure I  understand how this  comports  with 11 

your previous argument  that  i t  is  not  a  s ingle enti ty.  12 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Okay. 13 

JUDGE WARD:  You tell  me that  the specif icat ion 14 

discloses that  the VAN is  generated at  the originator 's  15 

computer ,  correct?    16 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So,  okay,  we're talking about  17 

now the specificat ion of the '302 patent?    18 

JUDGE WARD:  Yes,  your fi rst  argument .    19 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yeah, yeah,  yeah,  okay,  yeah.    20 

JUDGE WARD:  Okay.  But  now you are tel l ing 21 

me that  let 's  assume i t  is  a  single ent ity --  22 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Okay. 23 
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JUDGE WARD:  --  but  i t  is  also disclosed at  the 1 

originator 's  bank and generates  the payment .   Is  that what  2 

you're tell ing me here?    3 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So i t 's  two different  things.   On 4 

the claim --  oh,  I 'm sorry,  I  didn 't  mean to cut  you off .  5 

On the claim construct ion side we have looked at  6 

what  Mr.  Stambler disclosed in his  patent .   What  he discloses 7 

in  his  patent  is  that  the check is  generated by the originator 8 

and i t  is  processed by the originator 's  bank.   9 

He doesn 't  t ie  the two together in  the same way 10 

that  Davies  does.  So the Davies  reference instead teaches that  11 

the check is  generated by a token,  and makes clear  that  the 12 

token is  in  that  sense under the control  of  the originator 's  13 

bank.   14 

So I  don't  see any tension in the argument .   My 15 

only point  is  that  i f  I  were wrong about  the fi rst  argument  and 16 

you were to conclude that  for  some reason the claim is  l imited 17 

to steps being performed by a single enti ty,  that  that  is  st i l l  18 

disclosed in the Davies  reference where the thing that  is  doing 19 

the generat ing step is  the token which is  under the control  of  20 

the issuer.   21 

JUDGE WARD:  Proceed,  counsel .   22 

MR. WILLIAMS:  All  r ight .   Let  me go on to sl ide 23 

30 which addresses this  issue of  Davies  disclosing both a 24 

previously-issued credential  and receiving funds t ransfer  25 
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information.   There is  actual ly a couple arguments  going on in 1 

the Patent  Owner 's  response.    2 

First  they argue that  our reading of Davies  makes 3 

no sense because the customer is  receiving funds t ransfer  4 

information from himself  in  some sense.   So I  don't  think that  5 

is  a  crazy reading of Davies  at  all ,  even i f  i t  were t rue,  6 

because,  again,  that  seems to be exactly what  is  shown in the 7 

Stambler patent  i tself  for  the reasons I  mentioned earlier  when 8 

we talked about  claim interpretat ion.    9 

But  putting that  aside,  that 's  actually not  what  is  10 

going on in Davies  anyway because what  is  happening in 11 

Davies  is  the token is  receiving funds t ransfer  information 12 

from the terminal,  and,  you know, there is  nothing i l logical  13 

about  that .   So I  think the argument  just  kind of misses the 14 

mark.   15 

Then Patent  Owner makes a second argument ,  16 

although related,  that ,  as  I  understand the argument  and 17 

maybe I 've misinterpreted i t ,  but  I  think the argument  is  that  18 

we're relying on Davies  on the credential  as  being,  you know, 19 

the credent ial  as  being this  customer certi ficate which 20 

includes their  ident ity.   That  is  previously s tored for purposes 21 

of satisfying the preamble.    22 

Then they say,  well ,  then when it  comes t ime for 23 

the funds transfer information to be received,  which also 24 

includes the customer identity,  that  we are some way 25 
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double-dipping by using the same information.   I  think that 's  1 

their  argument .   Maybe they will  phrase i t  a  l i t t le  bi t  better  2 

than that .    3 

So we have two responses to  that .   The fi rst  4 

response is  that  that  assumes a part icular  claim construct ion 5 

that  has never been made before in their  briefs ,  which would 6 

require that  the previously issued in the preamble mean that  7 

the credentials  issued before any step of  the body of the claim 8 

takes place.   And i t  is  not  so clear  that  that  is  necessarily t rue.   9 

The word credential  is  not  used unt il  the 10 

determining s tep.  And there is  no dispute in  Davies that  the 11 

credential  would be received before the determining step.    12 

So I  think this  is  just  kind of a buried claim 13 

construct ion argument  that  was never really properly made in 14 

the Patent  Owner 's  response that  seems to be behind this  15 

argument ,  which we don't  necessari ly accept .   I t  is  not  clear  16 

why i t  has  to  be the case that  the credentials  receive before 17 

any other step takes place.    18 

But  even i f  that  is  the right  construction,  again,  19 

st i l l  Davies  would disclose i t  because the only thing that  we 20 

have to show is  that  in  the receiving step that  Davies  gets  the 21 

customer 's  identi ty,  which i t  certainly does.    22 

As an init ial  matter ,  you know, Patent  Owner has 23 

conceded, we agree,  that  the token does s tore the customer 24 
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identity.   I  mean, that 's  previously stored on the token.   That 's  1 

built  into the token when the customer gets  i t .    2 

So then what  happens when that  token is  used to 3 

sign a check at  a  t ime of a transaction?  Well ,  what  happens is  4 

the data is  assembled by the terminal .   So the terminal  needs 5 

to  get  the customer 's  identity.   That 's  one of  the pieces of  6 

information i t  is  going to need when it  is  processing this  7 

t ransaction,  as  Davies  tells  us .    8 

So i t  assembles that  information,  that  check,  and 9 

then sends i t  into the token.   When i t  does that  the token 10 

receives that  information.   So that 's  how the step of  receiving 11 

is  disclosed in Davies .   12 

Okay.  There is  another argument  that  was made in 13 

the response from Patent  Owner that  Davies  doesn' t  disclose a 14 

credential .   I 'm not  entirely sure what  their  argument  is  about  15 

this ,  maybe I  wil l  be able to  understand it  better  after  hearing 16 

Patent  Owner 's  presentation today,  but  the certi ficate on that  17 

check is  certainly a credential .    18 

I t  is  the thing that  identifies  the customer.   I t  is  19 

the thing that  the bank --  that  the customer 's  bank uses to  20 

verify that  i t  is  the customer who signed the check.   That 's  the 21 

whole point  of  having the credential  here.   You want  to  make 22 

sure that  when you see someone's  signature on a check that  i t  23 

is  the signature of  the person who i t  purports  to  be.    24 
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That 's  exactly what  the certi ficate in  Davies  is  1 

used for ,  and that cert ificate is  not secret .   It  is  a  public 2 

credential .   So in our view all  of  the elements  are satisfied.    3 

The last  point  relating to the information for  4 

identifying the account  of  the second party,  Patent  Owner 5 

argues that  in  the ATM embodiment  that  that  information is  6 

somehow not  needed, i t  is  not  necessary.    7 

Certainly,  you know, nothing in Davies  suggests  i t  8 

is  not  necessary.   In  fact ,  Davies  teaches that  you would 9 

always have the same check format that  would include that  10 

information.   So the argument  seems to be some sort  of  11 

speculative reading of Davies  that real ly doesn 't  find support  12 

in the record.    13 

And it  ignores,  of course,  the fact  that  Davies  14 

describes using this  check not  just  for  ATM embodiments  but  15 

for  other types of payments ,  which would equally invalidate 16 

the claims.   So they don't  really address  i t .   17 

JUDGE WARD:  I  understand Patent  Owner to  be 18 

making the argument  that  the payee identity might  be missing 19 

from a cash withdrawal .   So do you agree that  there is  no 20 

second party in  a cash withdrawal  si tuation?   21 

MR. WILLIAMS:  No, we don' t  agree.   If  you look 22 

at  sl ide 37,  for  instance,  I  think you will  see where we address  23 

that .   This  is  describing an embodiment  where you are walking 24 

up to a bank that  is  not  your own to make an ATM withdrawal .   25 
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That  bank is  going to need to get  paid somehow to give you 1 

cash.   If  you bank at  Cit ibank and you go to a Wells  Fargo 2 

ATM and get  money, Wells  Fargo is  going to want  to  get  paid,  3 

r ight ,  they are not  just  wanting to give you their  money 4 

because they are nice to  Cit ibank customers.    5 

So that  is  where we think payee identi ty would be 6 

used.   It  would be used to identify the bank who is  actually 7 

being paid.   The figure shows explicit ly that  you need to make 8 

a payment  to  Bank A.  It 's  circled on slide 37. 9 

So that 's ,  we believe,  where you would ident ify 10 

that  information.   And there is  no evidence in the record to 11 

the contrary.    12 

Mr. Diffie  in  his  deposit ion said,  yes,  that  is  what  13 

we would put  here.   And Mr. Nielson,  the best  he could do is  14 

say he doesn 't  know where you would put  that  information.   15 

And I  asked him, well ,  wouldn 't  i t  be logical  to  put  i t  in  that  16 

f ield?   And he just  said he didn 't  know.  So there is  certainly 17 

nothing in the record to st rongly suggest  that  that  is  not  what  18 

you would use i t  for .   19 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    20 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   21 

JUDGE CHEN:  So just  to  clari fy,  this  ATM 22 

embodiment  in  Davies  that  we have been talking about ,  is  23 

there any further disclosure anywhere in  the Davies  text  aside 24 

from pages 330 and 331 about  this particular  embodiment?    25 
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MR. WILLIAMS:  You know, so I  want  to  say i t  is  1 

hinted at  in  other places,  but  certainly I  think the meat  of  i t  is  2 

on those two pages.   Let  me just  verify that .    3 

Yeah, so the way I  would characterize i t  is  this  4 

way:   The idea,  the detailed discussion of payments  by s igned 5 

messages begins at  328.   That 's  where Davies  begins to  6 

explain what  this  check format  looks l ike,  the data you would 7 

put  in  i t ,  how the cert ificates  work and what  not .    8 

He then describes how you could use that  9 

embodiment  to  make point  of  sale payments .   That  begins at  10 

page 330.  And then at  the end of that  he says how you could 11 

use that  to  do an ATM transact ion.  That 's  the bottom of 330 12 

over to  331.   13 

So, yeah,  that 's  the section that  I  think is  the most  14 

relevant  to  the ATM embodiment .   15 

JUDGE CHEN:  Thank you.  16 

MR. WILLIAMS:  All  r ight .   So I  don' t  believe 17 

there is  an argument  as  to  claim 53, so I 'm not  going to 18 

address  claim 53, but  I  do want  to  talk about  55.    19 

So claim 55 adds the addi tional  l imitat ion that  the 20 

VAN be generated by using an error detect ion code.   And our 21 

argument  is  actual ly pret ty st raightforward.   It  is  that  when 22 

you do in Davies  that  digi tal  signature you have used an error  23 

detection code to generate a VAN.   24 
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And we get  to  that  resul t  in  two ways.   Firs t  we 1 

say that  Davies  teaches that  when you do digital  signatures  2 

you would do that  by f i rs t  hashing the message to put  i t  --  3 

essential ly take a compressed version of the message and then 4 

encrypt  that  using the private key of the signer,  therefore 5 

creating the signature.    6 

And Nechvatal  is  the reference we rely on that  7 

teaches that  by doing that ,  when you hash,  you have used an 8 

error  detect ion code.   That 's  on page 40 of our sl ides where 9 

we have the relevant  excerpt  from Nechvatal ,  which just  10 

makes clear  all  we are using i t  for  really is  the teaching that  a  11 

hash function is  an error  detection code.   So that 's  one way 12 

that  Davies  gets  you there.    13 

But  there is  also really no dispute about  this .   14 

Even Patent  Owner 's  expert  has admit ted that  a  digital  15 

signature i tself  is  an error  detect ion code because he says that  16 

i f  someone changes a message that has a digital  signature,  you 17 

would be able to  tell  that  when you aren 't  able to  recover what  18 

the original  message was.    19 

In other words,  when the s ignature doesn 't  check 20 

out ,  you know that  there is  something hinkey going on in the 21 

t ransmission.   And so in that  sense,  in  both ways Davies  is  22 

already teaching you to use an error detect ion code.    23 

He just  doesn 't  --  in  our peti t ion we just  didn 't  24 

point  any place where he says that  expressly.   In  the reply we 25 
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actually did cite  to  a section in Davies  that  makes clear  that  a  1 

signature is  error checking.   But  Nechvatal  is  sufficient  to  get  2 

you there because i t  teaches you that  the hash that  Davies  3 

teaches is  also an error  detect ion code.   4 

JUDGE WARD:  How does Peti t ioner propose we 5 

construe error  detection code?  6 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So --  good question.   So we had 7 

proposed a construction in Mr.  Diff ie 's  declaration actually 8 

that  was taken from one of the earl ier  Stambler cases.   And I  9 

will  just  find that construct ion for  you.  I  thought  I  had i t  but  10 

I  do not .    11 

Yeah, this  is  at  paragraph 18 of Mr.  Diff ie 's  12 

declaration.   He says i t  is  the result  of  applying an algorithm 13 

for  coding information that ,  when applied to original  14 

information,  creates  coded information,  wherein changes to 15 

the coded information can be detected without  complete 16 

recovery of the original  information.    17 

So that  was the construction he proposed in his  18 

declaration,  which we think is  fine.   And as  I  read Patent  19 

Owner's  response,  I  don 't  bel ieve they have a s ignificant  20 

disagreement  with that  construction,  actually.    21 

Their  response changes,  I  think,  one word of that  22 

construct ion.   And Mr. Diffie  was asked about  this  difference 23 

at  his  deposit ion.  And we pointed out  in  the reply he 24 

essential ly says i t  doesn 't  matter  which one you pick.   Ei ther  25 
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way i t  is  going to be satisfied by Davies ,  and Davies and 1 

Nechvatal ,  however you want  to  look at  i t ,  whether you are 2 

t rying to recover the original  information or recover the coded 3 

information,  in  both cases Davies  is  teaching that  that 's  an 4 

error  detect ion code.   5 

So the construction in Mr.  Diffie 's  declaration 6 

would be the one we propose.   7 

JUDGE MOORE:  Counsel ,  just  so you are aware,  8 

you are running about  a minute left  in  what  you asked to be 9 

reserved.   10 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Great .   So I  have one more 11 

claim and then I  will  si t  down.   12 

So claim 56 introduces this  idea of a  second VAN 13 

that  is  being used to secure the credent ial  information to the 14 

party.   We rely on Davies  on sect ion 8 of  the check,  which is  15 

basically the place where the bank is  signing the customer 16 

certi ficate saying,  in  effect ,  the bank is  tell ing the world,  yes,  17 

I  can confirm to you that  the customer ident if ied in f ield 5 has 18 

the public key,  you know, ident if ied in field 6,  and that  that  19 

VAN then can be used during the authentication process  to  20 

verify that  the s ignature is  accurate.    21 

Now, we sort  of  concede that  Davies  doesn 't  teach 22 

that  last  piece directly,  that  you would actual ly check the 23 

certi ficate.   And for that  we rely on Fischer.   This  is  our s l ide 24 

46 where you see the relevant  excerpt .    25 
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Fischer basically teaches,  well ,  you know, the 1 

whole point  of  the certi ficate chain is  to  permit  you to verify 2 

the s ignatures  in  the chain,  and,  i f  they don't  match, then to 3 

conclude that  something weird is  going on. 4 

And then Piosenka teaches you that  if  you 5 

determine something weird is  going on,  then you, you know, 6 

deny the transaction.   So col lectively those references teach 7 

claim 56.   8 

So with that  I  will  reserve any remaining t ime for 9 

rebuttal .   10 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    11 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   12 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel ,  before you conclude,  I  13 

just  wanted to ask you, regarding the combinations at  hand, 14 

including especial ly Davies  plus Meyer,  which I  bel ieve you 15 

are asserting and upon which we inst i tuted for  all  four of  the 16 

challenged claims,  is  there any specific rationale from the 17 

KSR decis ion upon which Peti t ioner is  relying among the 18 

several  that  were enunciated by the court  in  that  decision?   19 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yeah, I  didn 't  address  Meyer 20 

and the Davies  combination in my comments  just  now, which 21 

should show you that  you don't  actually have to get  to  that  22 

combination to decide the case.    23 

So for  that  particular  combination what  we're 24 

pointing to real ly is  the idea --  what  Meyer teaches is  how to 25 
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do a MAC, a Message Authenticat ion Code.   He teaches some 1 

data being --  performing a cryptographic operation on some 2 

t ransaction data,  and which,  of  course,  Davies  teaches 3 

something qui te similar  in  the context  of  the check in figure 4 

10.22.    5 

So our suggestion is  that ,  you know, those 6 

teachings are so similar ,  so well  known in the art  and so 7 

easily combined and would work in exactly the same way they 8 

are described as  working in individual  references that  i t  would 9 

be a predictable variat ion to use those two references.   That 's  10 

essential ly the basis  for  the combination.   11 

JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  Thank you.   12 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Judge Moore,  could I  just  ask 13 

how much t ime is remaining?   14 

JUDGE MOORE:  18 minutes .    15 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Good afternoon, Your 16 

Honors .   Robert  Greenspoon for Mr. Leon Stambler.   As I  17 

mentioned, Mr.  Stambler has flown in here from Florida,  18 

which is  kind of significant  at  least  in  my mind.  He is  19 

87-years-old.   This  is  one of  his  babies .   This  is  a  very 20 

important  proceeding for  him so he wanted to be sure to  21 

attend.    22 

And, of  course,  also with me is  Brent  Bumgardner 23 

who is  not  counsel  of  record but  everyone seems to have 24 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 37 

agreed he could help with the sl ides,  and I  appreciate that .   1 

Thank you very much.  2 

We obviously disagree with the ant icipation and 3 

obviousness conclusions that  you just  heard.   And before I  4 

begin on the substance,  before I  get  to  any slides,  I  wanted to 5 

just  walk through a l i t t le  bit  of  the procedural  history of  this  6 

case,  how we got  here from where we started.    7 

And that  was,  i f  Your Honors recal l ,  I  bel ieve all  8 

of  you were the panel  who decided not  to  insti tute t rial  in  a 9 

case called Visa versus Leon Stambler.    10 

And the claim construct ion which led to the 11 

non-insti tution had to do with a part icular  sequencing required 12 

by the claims as  between the different  steps.   And obviously 13 

we think that  was a correct  determination.    14 

I t  just  so happens that  in  the Visa peti t ion,  Visa 15 

did one thing r ight  in  our mind, which is  they read the claim, 16 

claim 51, onto a single entity.   So when they came to this  17 

Board and they t r ied to  peti t ion for IPR, they were actually 18 

seeing things the same way we did, at  least  to  the extent  that  19 

claim 51 has to  be read on a single enti ty.    20 

In the Visa instance,  by the way, using the Davies  21 

reference,  the same prior  art ,  they read i t  on,  I  believe i t  was 22 

the card issuer bank or the token issuer bank doing al l  four of  23 

those steps.    24 
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And then the next thing that  happened in the 1 

procedural  history just  prior  to  the insti tution denial  was that  2 

MasterCard came in with their  fi rst  CBM peti t ion.   And the 3 

f i rst  CBM peti t ion,  to  the extent  i t  dealt  with prior  art ,  i t  was 4 

a carbon copy of Visa 's  Insti tution Decision.   Clearly 5 

MasterCard didn 't  yet  have the benefit  of  the denial  decision.    6 

Then the denial  decision came based on the claim 7 

construct ion that  I  just  mentioned, and MasterCard in short  8 

order came out  with the present  pet i t ion that  this  proceeding 9 

is  buil t  on.   And the present  peti t ion shifts .    10 

I t  doesn 't  read the Stambler patent onto the 11 

Davies ,  Nechvatal ,  Fischer,  Piosenka sui te of  prior  art  the 12 

same way that  the Visa pet i t ion did,  and i t  also added another 13 

reference which we established in this  proceeding in the 14 

record they had had all  along but  for  some reason didn 't  15 

provide in their  fi rst  peti t ion.    16 

So the reason I  walked through this  procedural  17 

history is  because i t  goes to  the correctness  of  some of the 18 

claim construction arguments  that  we're going to walk through 19 

in my presentation.    20 

And I  would say one thing very quickly and then 21 

move off  of  i t .   I  would urge this  panel ,  this  Board,  that  i t  22 

st i l l  has  the discretion to dismiss  this  proceeding as being the 23 

type of second bite at  the apple that  other panels  have 24 
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dismissed under similar  circumstances.   And I  won't  l inger on 1 

that .    2 

So what  we believe is  that  the Pet it ioner has 3 

supplied incorrect  information on the patent ,  on the prior  art ,  4 

and,  in  fact ,  on some of the legal  principles  that  should apply 5 

here.   And let  me go back to the source to  begin.    6 

So what  we see here,  of  course,  on the t i t le  sl ide,  7 

i t  is  a  picture of  the cover page of the patent .   And I would 8 

assert  to  Your Honors  that  this  patent  is  not  a  public key 9 

cryptography patent .   It  is  not  an asymmetric cryptography 10 

patent  in  i ts  claimed inventions.   And we will  get  to  11 

explaining why in just  a  few moments .    12 

I  wil l  also let  you know, I  think Mr. Diffie  is  a  13 

great  guy.   That 's  Peti t ioner 's  expert .   I  think he is ,  in  some 14 

f ields ,  he is  quite a luminary,  I  acknowledge that ,  particularly 15 

in public key cryptography, but  he might  just  well  have been 16 

the wrong guy for this  job.    17 

And there is  an old,  I  guess ,  old chestnut  where 18 

they say to someone with a hammer everything is  a nail .   So 19 

to someone l ike Mr.  Diffie ,  who is  so ski l led in  public key 20 

cryptography, perhaps someone like him is  motivated to see 21 

public key principles  everywhere.    22 

So as  we walk through you will  see that  there are 23 

two ways described in Mr. Stambler 's  patent  for  generat ing a 24 
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VAN as far  as  that  goes.   One of which we say is  not  the 1 

claimed VAN.  One of which we say is  the claimed VAN.   2 

But  in  both of  those cases,  Mr. Stambler was 3 

working with what  is  known as symmetrical  cryptography 4 

where each side has the same key or the same algorithm, not  5 

asymmetrical  cryptography, public key cryptography, which,  6 

certainly from the review of this  record,  all  of  Your Honors  7 

know involves a public key that  could be in  the hands of  the 8 

general  public and a private key that  never leaves the hands of  9 

i ts  owner.   So that  remains secret  and nobody knows about  i t .    10 

So I  assert  that ,  and we'l l  walk through this ,  but  11 

the claims were drafted around symmetrical  ideas,  not  12 

asymmetrical .   And this  explains a lot .   To our mind i t  is  the 13 

big picture reason why there are so many things different  from 14 

the prior  art ,  even i f  there might  seem surface similarit ies  at  15 

f i rst .    16 

So let 's  go to Mr. Stambler 's  patent  now, 17 

demonstrative number 2.   Let 's  talk about  the generation of a 18 

check.   So what  we've put  on the screen here is  simply f igure 19 

7,  and in f igure 7 a person enters  his  own originator 's  TIN, 20 

which is  a  Social  Security number.    21 

As a quick aside,  Mr.  Diffie  and I  had our 22 

exchange where he acknowledged that  at  the t ime 23 

Mr. Stambler wrote his  patent ,  a  very different  age in this  24 

sense:   A Social  Security number was considered public 25 
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information.   It  is  just  a  piece of  t rivia for  why the TIN ends 1 

up being what  the patent  considers  the public non-secret  2 

information.   Today we might  have different  att i tudes about  3 

that .   Back then that 's  what  happened.  You may even recall  4 

they were on our driver 's  l icenses for  a  long time.   5 

So the originator will  enter  the OTIN, which is  6 

Originator TIN; RTIN, which is  the receiver 's  or  recipient 's  7 

TIN, again,  Social  Securi ty number.   The originator enters  his  8 

PIN, just  a  PIN code,  and the PIN code goes into the coder 10.   9 

I t  becomes a coded PIN, and then the t ransformation that  you 10 

see on the figure happened where eventual ly a VAN gets  11 

created and placed onto a check.   That 's  number 4.    12 

I t  will  become very important  for  the Board to 13 

appreciate that  when the originator is  writ ing his  check,  he is  14 

working at  the so-called originator 's  terminal  or  computer ,  the 15 

originator 's .    16 

So let 's  s top right there.   I 'm going to do 17 

something that  is  a  l i t t le  bit  unusual  and I 'm going to 18 

demonstrate that  Mr.  Stambler 's  claim does not  read,  claim 51 19 

does not  read on the figure 7 process  that  we walked through 20 

with my counterpart  and in my own presentation.    21 

The next  demonstrative,  please.   So we're now 22 

looking at  page 4,  demonstrative or  sl ide 4.   This  is  from 23 

column 5 of  the patent .   This  is  a  quote:   "The data input  to  24 

coder 28 is  the recipient 's  TIN (RTIN) which has been read 25 
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from the check,  or  accessed from the computer  memory,  or  1 

entered by the originator."    2 

Now, I  will  pause r ight  there because i t  doesn 't  say 3 

that  the computer has "received" anything.   It  was data that  4 

was input  into the computer ,  not  received.   That 's  a clue.   5 

That 's  a  clue when we get  to  the claim language.   6 

Another thing I  will  pause to  observe is  that  by 7 

this  point  in  the process  we have the recipient 's  Social  8 

Security number working in the process ,  but  with that  RTIN, 9 

at  this  stage,  there is  no way to ident ify the recipient 's  bank 10 

account ,  no way, not  just  with the RTIN.   11 

You can 't  do i t  with just  a  Social  Securi ty number 12 

before any further processing has happened.  And there is  a  13 

later  stage when the RTIN sort  of  transforms i tself  into 14 

something from which one can derive or  identify the account  15 

number of  the recipient .   16 

JUDGE CHEN:  Excuse me, counsel?    17 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Yes.   18 

JUDGE CHEN:  Just  to  clarify,  did I  hear you 19 

correctly in  that  you said,  I  believe I  heard you say that  claim 20 

51 does not  read on figure 7 of  the patent?    21 

MR. GREENSPOON:  That  is  our content ion,  yes,  22 

Your Honor.   23 
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JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  So some ent ity operating in 1 

the manner depicted in figure 7 would not  be pract icing that  2 

claim?   3 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Well ,  in  this  sense:   The 4 

f igure 7 act ions do not  map onto the receiving and generating 5 

step of  the claim,  unlike the content ions we heard from 6 

Mr. Eliot .   7 

So another fact  becomes apparent  i f  you consider 8 

what  has happened so far .   The originator has put  what  is  9 

called funds t ransfer  information,  input  that  into a computer .   10 

In doing that  the originator has not taken --  has not  given 11 

something to someone else.    12 

One can 't  comfortably say that  the originator has 13 

received something from himself ,  because that 's  just  a  14 

nonsensical  way of understanding the English language.    15 

So this  is  the concept  that  we note in  our brief .   16 

You simply can' t  receive a chunk of information from 17 

yourself .   It  is  l ike put ting a pencil  from one hand into the 18 

other.   It  just  doesn 't  map onto our common notions of  what  19 

received is .    20 

Let 's  go to the next  demonstrat ive, number 6.   21 

Let 's  go one more.   So building up another clue about  figure 22 

7,  I  would l ike Your Honors  to  observe that  f igure 7 is  23 

self-consciously described as  i l lustrating how an originator 24 

generates  the check.   Let 's  go to number 7.    25 
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Meanwhile,  figures  8A and 8B are self-consciously 1 

described as  the authentication process  when the check is  2 

presented to be cashed.    3 

So the figure 7 descriptor  does not  say here is  a  4 

f igure with a method for  authent icating the t ransfer of  funds.   5 

So let 's  go to demonstrative 8.    6 

And that 's  not  a  coincidence when you end up 7 

looking at  the claim as i t  is  writ ten.   The claim as i t  is  writ ten 8 

in i ts  preamble says:   "A method for authenticating the 9 

t ransfer  of  funds."    10 

So, Your Honors , yet  another clue that  what  we're 11 

doing here in  f igure 7 is  not  going to be mapping on,  even 12 

partially onto the claim steps that  we wil l  read about  in  claim 13 

51.   14 

And that 's  not  a  coincidence.   So let 's  go to the 15 

next  demonstrative,  so back to demonstrative number 9.   16 

These are the admissions from Mr. Diffie .   These are the 17 

crucial  admissions.   And I  think some of them were already 18 

discussed on the record today.    19 

And when you read through these admissions from 20 

the deposit ion t ranscript  you will  appreciate that  Mr.  Diffie  21 

was referring to the claim steps.   He wasn 't  simply referring 22 

to what  is  inside f igure 8B as  i ts  own thing or figure 8B as 23 

further explicated by the text .    24 
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He was talking about  f igure 8B, as  I  walked him 1 

through it ,  explaining or pointing him to the al ternat ive 2 

embodiment  possibly reading on the claims.    3 

"Question:   You mentioned earl ier that  you 're well  4 

famil iar  with claim 51, yes?    5 

"Answer:   Yes.   6 

"Question:   So can I  communicate with you today 7 

by talking about  four s teps,  receiving,  generating,  determining 8 

and t ransferring?   9 

"Answer:   Please.  10 

"Question:   Okay.  So in what  we've just  seen at  11 

f igure 8B, would you agree that  the originator bank in the 12 

described embodiment  performed al l  four of  those steps?"   13 

And he acknowledged:   "It  appears to  me that  all  14 

four of  those s teps are performed in figure 8B that  we've just  15 

been looking at  in  Stambler 's  embodiment ."   16 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel? 17 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Yes. 18 

JUDGE CHEN:  We did go over this  with the 19 

Petit ioner 's  counsel .   How do you respond to the argument  20 

that  you heard him make earlier  in this  proceeding when he 21 

was being questioned by the Panel  regarding Mr. Diff ie 's  22 

test imony?   23 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Well ,  let 's  go forward.   I  24 

think i t  is  two more slides and I  think that 's  the response.  The 25 
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key point  about  Mr.  Diffie 's  test imony is  that  not  only did he 1 

include the al tered figure 8B as  what  the claim reads on,  but  2 

he excluded, at  least  so far  as  he had studied as  an expert ,  he 3 

excluded any other place in  the patent .    4 

And here is  the important  Q and A from his  5 

deposit ion:    6 

"Question:   Is  there any disclosure in  the detailed 7 

description of the '302 patent  of  those four steps being 8 

divided up among more than one ent ity?    9 

"The Witness:   I  have not  detected i t ,  but  I  would 10 

need to read --  I  think I  probably need to read through the 11 

whole embodiment  to  be confident."    12 

So here certainly he left  a  l i t t le  wiggle room but ,  13 

again,  he is  the expert .   He is  the expert  presented by the 14 

Petit ioner.   The Peti t ioner and his  expert  had no posi t ion that  15 

f igure 7 or  any of i ts  text  description read onto,  for  example,  16 

the generat ing or the receiving steps.   17 

JUDGE CHEN:  By the way, counsel ,  is  i t  your 18 

posit ion that  claim 51 does not  read on the generation of a  19 

check by an originator?    20 

MR. GREENSPOON:  That 's  correct .   That 's  21 

correct .   And we can go through some detai led explanations 22 

why.  Let  me take a side t rip  into sort  of  a  big picture 23 

explanation why.   24 
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In claim 51 we have a receiving s tep,  a  receiving 1 

the funds transfer information.   Let 's  pretend for  a  moment  2 

hypothetically that  that  did read on the data entry step we just  3 

saw that  the originator does at  his  own terminal .    4 

So he is  giving this  information to himself .   Let 's  5 

call  that  hypothetically the receiving step.   Now let 's  go 6 

forward a couple places in  the claim and you have a 7 

determining s tep where you are determining authent icity of  8 

the received information essent ial ly.   There is  no need to 9 

determine authenticity of  something that  you have taken from 10 

one hand and put  into the other.    11 

That 's  another nonsensical  appl ication of the 12 

claim.  I t  leads to a contradiction.    13 

The reason why you need to determine authent icity 14 

of information is  because i t  has  t raveled over a 15 

communication network,  because i t  left  somebody's  control .   16 

So that  is  a  big picture explanat ion of why i t  is  nonsensical  to  17 

read the generat ing,  or  receiving and generating s teps onto the 18 

generation of a  check.   19 

JUDGE WARD:  Do you agree that disclosure with 20 

respect  to  f igure 7 in  the specif icat ion does require that  the 21 

originator 's  computer  validates  the VAN?  Do you agree with 22 

that  contention?   23 

MR. GREENSPOON:  It  is  the originator 's  24 

computer ,  that  is  exact ly the text  in  the patent ,  that 's  correct .   25 
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The originator makes the input  into his  or  her  own computer  1 

and so we're talking about  direct ion and control .   And this  2 

gets  forward to another issue we will  go into.    3 

That 's  a  classic example where i f  one were to  4 

hypothesize that  the originator 's  computer  were some 5 

additional  enti ty in  this  ent ire work flow, you really can ' t  6 

because the person who owns his  own computer  is  certainly 7 

directly and control l ing his  own computer .    8 

So I  will  move off  of  this  in  just  a  moment  but  I  9 

just  want  to  observe that  we gave Mr. Diffie  an opportunity to  10 

explain where there might  be some place else in  11 

Mr. Stambler 's  patent  that  provides writ ten descript ion 12 

support  for  claim 51 other than f igure 8B and the modification 13 

made in the text .   And he couldn 't  f ind i t  at  his  deposi t ion.    14 

So here is  why that 's  important ,  and let 's  see the 15 

next  one,  demonstrative 12.   This  is  Peti t ioner 's  reply at  page 16 

3.   And as  Your Honors know, they say the receiving and 17 

generating step could happen at  f igure 3,  where we make the 18 

check,  but  that 's  not  really correct.   That 's  not  where i t  19 

happens.   That 's  not  even the preferred embodiment  when you 20 

are talking about  the claim scope.   That 's  an unclaimed 21 

embodiment .   22 

Slide 13,  please.    23 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    24 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Yes,  Your Honor.   25 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 49 

JUDGE CHEN:  My apologies .   I  know that  we 1 

have looked at  the Diff ie  testimony, but  before we go on here,  2 

I  wanted to get  your reaction.    3 

I  know one of the preceding slides highlighted 4 

excerpts  from pages 19 and 20 of his  deposi t ion.   There is  a  5 

port ion of  page 19,  with your quest ion beginning at  l ine 7 and 6 

the witness '  answer at  l ine 14,  where he s tates  "it  appears  to  7 

me that  claim 51 could be sat isfied that  way,"  in  response to 8 

your question about  the patent  dividing up s teps so that  9 

different  actors  played a role of  the method steps.    10 

And Mr. Diff ie  then says,  "but  that there is  no 11 

requirement  to  claim 51 that  the steps all  be performed by the 12 

same enti ty."    13 

What  is  your react ion to that  testimony from Mr. 14 

Diffie?   15 

MR. GREENSPOON:  I  think Mr. Diffie  was 16 

bearing a legal  conclusion in the middle of  the technological  17 

test imony I  was gett ing from him.  And, of  course,  Your 18 

Honors  can give that  legal  conclusion whatever weight  you 19 

decide to.    20 

I  believe that  what  happened later  in  the questions 21 

and answers that  we have walked through amounts  to  an 22 

impeachment  of  that  legal  conclusion.    23 

Now, this  is  not  an easy legal  analysis  either .   I  24 

concede that .   This  is  a  diff icult  explorat ion and analysis  of  25 
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the patent  in  l ight  of  legal  principles  that  are handed down to 1 

us  from the case law.   2 

So I 'm not  surprised that  Mr.  Diffie would sort  of  3 

reach that  outcome in one of  his  answers before he gives the 4 

impeaching answers later  that  are actually more geared and 5 

directed to the technological  information.   6 

JUDGE CHEN:  Do you think,  counsel ,  you heard 7 

Petit ioner 's  counsel  say something to the effect  that  Mr.  Diffie  8 

might  have been confused at  points  in  his  testimony.   9 

Do you agree with that  assessment?   Do you think 10 

quest ioning confused him as to  what  you were asking?   11 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Your Honor,  I  can only say 12 

the record speaks for  i tself .   I  was surprised to hear 13 

Mr. Williams describe his  own expert  as  confused.   That  was 14 

surpris ing to me.  He did not  appear confused to me.   15 

He appeared to be providing certain broad answers  16 

at  some points  in  t ime and then,  when I  focused him on the 17 

port ions of  the record that  didn 't  really mesh with those broad 18 

answers ,  I  think he honest ly gave, you know, the correct  19 

technological  testimony that  he had to,  that  effectively 20 

impeached his  prior  broad answers.  I  don 't  think he was 21 

confused.    22 

I  put  up f igure 8B.  And what  we've shown in our 23 

papers  and throughout  the evidence is  that  all  of  the writ ten 24 

description support  for  claim 51 happens there at  the 25 
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originator 's  bank.  And there is  only one deviat ion from that  1 

f igure but  that 's  supported by the text ,  and that  is  describing 2 

the alternative embodiment .    3 

So let 's  go to the next  s l ide.   And actually before 4 

we get  there,  I  wil l  just  pause here to  note that  even the 5 

Petit ioner,  even MasterCard in i ts  reply,  and when 6 

Mr.  Will iams was standing up here today,  acknowledged that  7 

the alternative embodiment  is ,  in  fact ,  covered by the claim.  8 

So everything I 'm saying up to this point  is  not  provoking any 9 

disagreement  that there is  a  descript ion in the Stambler 10 

detailed specificat ion of the originator bank doing al l  of  the 11 

steps of  claim 51 and only the originator bank.  There is  no 12 

debate there.    13 

The debate is  whether there is  simultaneous 14 

nonreading,  if  you will ,  of  claim 51 on other embodiments .    15 

So quoting from their  own reply,  their  own paper:   16 

"And the alternative embodiment  where the claim steps may 17 

be performed by a single ent ity."   Meaning that  that,  too,  can 18 

be read or should be read to be covered by the claim, claim 19 

51.   20 

So this ,  of  course,  goes to  our legal  argument  that  21 

the method of claim 51 can only apply to a single ent ity doing 22 

all  of  the s teps.   And this  is  to  say,  you know, we're not  23 

running away from the general  canon of claim construction,  24 
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we know it  as  well  as  anyone,  that l imitations from the 1 

claimed embodiment  should not  be read into the claims.    2 

But  there is  an important  qual ifier  to  that  canon, 3 

and we briefed this .   And that  is  where only a single 4 

embodiment  is  described that  actual ly reads on the claim.  The 5 

claims should not be read to cover other ways where the other 6 

ways would raise a question of enablement .   And that 's  the 7 

Digital  Biometrics  case,  and even before that  the Athlet ic  8 

Alternatives case.   So the record certainly shows that  there are 9 

at  least  quest ions of  enablement  that  go beyond.   10 

So here the only evidence on enablement  of  ways 11 

that  go beyond the modified f igure 8,  that  comes from Dr.  12 

Nielson.   And here is  his  testimony on the next  sl ide,  15.   13 

This  is  Dr.  Nielson and his  evidence:   "Must  be performed by 14 

a single ent ity.   Otherwise,  there would be insufficient  wri t ten 15 

description to enable the claim."   16 

Next  s l ide,  please.   "If  multiple enti t ies  perform 17 

these steps,  there is  information deficient  about  how to 18 

implement ."   And then he goes on with more detail ,  and of 19 

course I 'm skipping a lot ,  but  "cryptographic protocols ,  20 

including authentication protocols , are notoriously difficult  to  21 

get  correct ."    22 

Next  s l ide.   And then at  his  deposit ion,  which i f  I  23 

recall  correctly I  think this  was used by the Petit ioner to  t ry 24 
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to undercut  this  evidence but ,  in  fact ,  i t  doesn 't  undercut  the 1 

evidence.    2 

Here is  the question from Mr. Wil liams, I  believe: 3 

"Question:   So in that  hypothet ical ,  do you st i l l  4 

think that  there 's  a  lack of wri t ten description in the 5 

specificat ion to enable that?    6 

"Answer:   So if  we have s teps 1 and 2 done by a 7 

different  ent i ty than steps 3 and 4,  I  think I 've already 8 

identif ied one of my concerns with is ,  which is  that  I  don 't  9 

think that  reads correctly.    10 

"But  if  you 're going to have --  so where you have 11 

the --  so I  don 't  think there is  writ ten description to describe 12 

how you spli t  that  up between those two ent it ies ."    13 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    14 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Yes,  Your Honor.   15 

JUDGE CHEN:  How about ,  I  would l ike to  hear 16 

your reaction to the argument  made at  page 7 of  the reply 17 

where they ci te  to  pages 66 and 67 of Dr.  Nielson's test imony, 18 

in particular  his  answer at  page 67, l ines 18 through 22,  in  19 

part  reading:   "I  think there are ways that  the language of the 20 

claim doesn 't  necessarily prohibit  dividing i t  up."    21 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Your Honor,  I  believe that  I  22 

have that  quoted in a future slide.   23 

So the quest ion is  --  I  apologize,  Your Honor.   24 
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JUDGE CHEN:  Yes,  I  just  wanted to get  your 1 

response to the argument  made at  page 7 of  the reply where 2 

the Petit ioner cites  that  excerpt  from Dr.  Nielson 's  test imony 3 

in support  of  i ts  argument  that  Dr.  Nielson himself  probably 4 

conceded that  --  and,  again,  to  quote his  testimony --  "there 5 

are ways that  the language of the claim doesn 't  necessarily 6 

prohibit  dividing i t  up amongst  multiple enti t ies ."    7 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Oh, I  see.   I  believe they 8 

were confronting him with the plain words of  the claim.  We, 9 

of  course,  perhaps differ  from Dr.  Nielson on this  point  10 

ourselves.   We have an explanation in our briefing why, as  a 11 

legal  matter ,  just  the words of  the claim before you even go to 12 

the specification call  out  a  s ingle ent ity requirement.    13 

But  this  was where he was asked just  about  the 14 

words of  the claim, and he didn 't  see the words,  plain words 15 

saying that .   So what  he was saying was,  effectively what  he 16 

was doing for  his answer,  he was assuming that  the words of  17 

the claim perhaps didn 't  jump out  to  him as requiring a single 18 

enti ty construction but ,  nonetheless ,  he gave the test imony 19 

that  he did give on the different  embodiments  and what  is  20 

enabled versus what  is  not  enabled.   21 

JUDGE CHEN:  Thank you.  Please proceed.   22 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Sure,  so let 's  go back to 23 

f igure 8B on sl ide 13.   24 
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So let 's  walk through this  for  a  second and see how 1 

i t  reads when we're using the recipient 's  TIN, I  want to  focus 2 

on that ,  because that  will  be important  for  an argument  down 3 

the road as  well .    4 

By the t ime you get  to  figure 8B the recipient 's  5 

TIN has been augmented,  with something very important ,  a  6 

communications session between the originator bank and the 7 

recipient 's  own bank.   8 

So,  in  other words,  the guy who is  supposed to get  9 

the money dropped into his  checking account  has his own 10 

bank talk to  the originator bank.  His  own bank is  up in f igure 11 

8A which I  haven' t  created a sl ide for  that .   But  by the t ime 12 

you get  to  figure 8B, that  recipient 's  ID number,  the RTIN, is  13 

information sufficient  for  identifying the account  of the 14 

second party.    15 

So that 's  yet  another  --  i t  is  a  nuance.   It  is  a  very 16 

important  nuance,  though.  In figure 7 when you full  s top at  17 

the generat ion of a check and that 's  all  you 've done so far  in  18 

the work flow, RTIN is  not  information for  identifying the 19 

account  of  the second party.    20 

Once you get  to  figure 8B, and especial ly since 21 

you are in  the alternat ive embodiment  that  we've been talking 22 

about ,  RTIN is  absolutely information sufficient  for  23 

identifying the account  of  the second party.   24 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 56 

Let 's  go to 18.   All  right .   So this  is  where we're 1 

pointing out  in  the text  that  by this point  the recipient 's  bank 2 

is  communicating with the originator 's  bank --  this  is  in  3 

column 6 --  and conveys information about  the t ransaction.   4 

So that  amplifies  what  I  just  pointed to with description to the 5 

f igure.    6 

Let 's  go to 19.   So this  is  the alternative 7 

embodiment  we've all  been talking about .   We probably don't  8 

need to l inger on i t  very long since we have admissions even 9 

today from MasterCard that  this  alternat ive embodiment  is  10 

covered by claim 51.  So let 's  go to the next  demonstrative,  11 

20.    12 

And then,  of  course,  there is  the determining s tep.   13 

And if  everything checks out  the funds are transferred at  the 14 

determining s tep.  15 

All  of  this  is  a  single method for authentication 16 

that  we've been talking about  where one ent ity does every 17 

step.   And, again, there is  no dispute that  everything I  just  18 

mentioned does support  claim 51.  And so I  will  go back to 19 

something that  I  started with.    20 

Everything I  just  showed you about generating a 21 

new VAN --  that  was the column 7 excerpt  about  l ine 12 --  22 

generating the new VAN alternative embodiment  shows that  23 

the authent icating party has the abi li ty to  do the same 24 

encryption as  the originating party did.    25 
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This  is  what  I  was referr ing to at  the outset  when I  1 

talked about  Mr.  Stambler talking about  symmetric 2 

encryption.   The exact  same one.   And even i f  you go to sort  3 

of  the,  let 's  say,  the primary text  description of figure 8B 4 

where there is  an uncoding operation,  an uncoding operat ion 5 

of  the VAN that  has come in,  even that  is  a  si tuat ion where 6 

the incoming VAN is  decrypted for  comparison,  and that  7 

means that  both sides have the same encryption keys.   This  is  8 

just  a  technological  fact .    9 

And that  goes to  show that  nothing that  10 

Mr.  Stambler did in these figures involves public key or 11 

asymmetric cryptography.  And that 's  important .   We believe 12 

that  is  sort  of  the big picture reason why we have a proverbial  13 

square peg in a round hole with the prior art .  14 

So with this  fresh understanding let 's  take a look 15 

at  the prior  art .   And as  Your Honors  know, the test  for  16 

anticipat ion is  very s trict .   The prior  art  has  to  disclose the 17 

claimed invention exactly as  arranged in the claim and mixing 18 

and matching unrelated parts  of  a  disclosure are not allowed.   19 

And for obviousness,  with rare exceptions,  i f  you 20 

can sti tch a combinat ion together with the reasons to combine 21 

such as  they are,  and when sti tched together they s ti l l  miss  or  22 

omit  a  claim l imitation,  that 's  another case where there is  no 23 

obviousness.   Those are the fundamentals .   24 
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Another fundamental ,  going back to what  we heard 1 

about  embodiments ,  and reading out  the preferred embodiment  2 

is  rarely,  i f  ever,  correct  --  we heard that  early on in 3 

Mr.  Will iams'  presentation --  that ,  too,  is  subject  to  i ts  own 4 

l imiting principle.    5 

And there are cases,  there are many cases,  I  have 6 

one I  could cite  to  Your Honors,  that  say i t  is  not  necessary 7 

that  every claim reads on every embodiment .   The general  8 

principle is  a  claim need not  cover all  embodiments .   So that 's  9 

why we can have f igure 8B in one form which isn 't  covered 10 

and then in another form which is .   11 

So let 's  go to sl ide 21.   So,  Your Honors,  I 've put  12 

up the now famil iar  fields  1 through 16 of Davies  on the 13 

screen.   This  is  from the check embodiment ,  figure 10.22.   14 

This  is  certainly the part  of  Davies that  both s ides discuss the 15 

most .    16 

And you've heard from Petit ioner how they claim 17 

that  al l  of  the steps of  claim 51 are contained in this  check 18 

embodiment ,  and they use a lot  of  information that  we see in 19 

the fields  up here,  1  through 16.    20 

Let 's  go to the next ,  so now on demonstrative 22.   21 

Let  me start  by correcting one piece of  incorrect  information 22 

we've heard today,  or  at  least  we've heard in the reply brief ,  23 

about  the disclosure of  Davies .   There is  a  technological  24 

description within Davies  that  they claim is  there but  is  not .    25 
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And that 's  this  not ion that  in  the work flow of 1 

Davies ,  supposedly the originator si ts  at  the terminal ,  plugs 2 

his  token in,  enters  his  check information,  that  goes into the 3 

token,  and somehow it  all  comes right  back out  of  the token 4 

into the terminal  and then ping-pongs r ight  back into the 5 

token.    6 

I  know that  might have been hard to fol low.  This  7 

is ,  I  bel ieve this  is  a  contention of MasterCard,  that  all  of  the 8 

f ields  1 through 8,  essential ly,  plus some other things,  go up 9 

into the terminal  and then back down into the token.   That 's  10 

their  content ion.    11 

I  commend Your Honors '  at tention to Davies  i tself ,  12 

pages 325 through 331.  There is  zero disclosure of  anything 13 

l ike that  happening.   And it  is  a  very important  absence,  14 

which is  why MasterCard I  believe t ries  to  make i t  a  presence,  15 

t ries  to  invent  on top of Davies  to  make i t  as  if  i t  is  there.    16 

In particular ,  on sl ide 22,  I 've highl ighted from the 17 

reply brief  at  page 15 where they al lege that  the electronic 18 

message is  "sent  back" to the token for  signing.    19 

Next  page,  please,  sl ide 23.   "Presented back" is  20 

the language used in the next  page of the reply brief  by 21 

MasterCard.    22 

And so have patience with me while I  walk 23 

through why this  is  a  controll ing and important  fact  that  24 

Davies  does not  disclose sending back or presenting back.    25 
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If  Your Honors  simply think about  i t ,  the most ,  1 

you know, Davies is  a  thin disclosure as  far  as  i t  goes,  but  2 

consistent  with the Davies  disclosure,  the work flow actually 3 

is  the token goes in,  the owner of  the token starts  inputting 4 

information to f i l l  out  some of the variable fields ,  and those 5 

could be 11,  12,  you know, payee identity,  amount ,  maybe 13 6 

and 14.    7 

I t  is  up for  grabs which fields  have to be entered 8 

at  the terminal  by the owner of  the token.   And those are sent  9 

into the token.   The token already knows fields  1 through 8.    10 

There is  no reason for  Davies  to  do this  thing that  11 

MasterCard has apparently invented on top of Davies  because 12 

i t  is  almost  l ike an Occam's  Razor mental  exercise.   Why 13 

would you do i t  if  i t  is  not  necessary?  But ,  more important ly,  14 

for  the legal  effect  i t  is  not  disclosed.   15 

Here is  why it  is  key:   We have pointed out  in  our 16 

papers  and in the evidence that  the receiving step was 17 

impossible to  find in Davies ,  and we had many reasons.   One 18 

of those reasons had to do with the relationship between the 19 

credential  and the funds t ransfer  information.    20 

There is  a  claim t ime sequence.   I t 's  not  that  21 

different  from the t ime sequence the Board found in the Visa 22 

insti tution denial .   The preamble indicates  that  the receiving 23 

happens after  the credential  has been issued.   That 's  the plain 24 

language of the claim.   25 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 61 

Just  as  an aside,  we heard a content ion that  1 

perhaps we didn 't  supply a claim construction to make this  2 

content ion.   Well ,  that  claim construction,  if  that 's  what  you 3 

call  i t ,  is  certainly baked into the argument  we made on the 4 

technology and how to dis tinguish Davies .   And more to the 5 

point ,  the party with the burden,  who is  Pet i t ioner here,  never 6 

supplied a claim construct ion to the contrary.    7 

I  wil l  move on from that .   We could point  fingers  8 

at  each other.   But  the main point  is ,  let 's  turn to s l ide 24,  9 

there is  a  prior  court  claim construction in the record that  says 10 

"previously issued" means issued before the execution of the 11 

steps recited in the claim, before the steps are cited in the 12 

claim.  That  means al l  of  the steps.    13 

So the next ,  page 25,  please.   So back to a few 14 

comments  about  the reply from a few slides before.   We can 15 

go ahead and keep this  on the screen.   We, that  is ,  Patent  16 

Owner,  have pointed out  that  the Petit ioner,  MasterCard,  17 

contends that  f ields  1 through 8 of  the check consti tuted the 18 

credential .   Actual ly that  has been a moving target ,  but  they 19 

f inally landed on f ields  1 through 8 of  the check are what  they 20 

contend to be the credential  in  Davies .    21 

And we also pointed out  that  as  such these f ields  1 22 

through 8 exis t  in the token before anything s tarts .   They were 23 

received in the token,  i f  you want  to  call  i t  that ,  before the 24 
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f ields  are completed,  before the rest  of  the check is  1 

fabricated,  such as  payee identi ty and check amount .   2 

So where did that leave Davies?   You know, i t  left  3 

Davies  with a token that  already has received customer 4 

identity,  already has received customer identity,  part  of  the 5 

funds transfer  information,  before and not  after  the supposed 6 

credential  came into existence.    7 

The best  they could possibly say i f they made an 8 

argument  on this  is  to  say,  well ,  i t  was simultaneous.   But  in  9 

any case Davies  fails  the required t ime sequence in the 10 

previously-issued claim applicat ion.   11 

So Pet it ioner,  MasterCard,  didn 't  actually 12 

challenge such a scenario violates  the t ime sequencing 13 

condition of  claim 51.  Instead,  in the reply pages we saw a 14 

moment  ago they stated that:   The terminal  reads information 15 

from the token,  and then has a message sent  back to the token.   16 

We saw that  highl ighted in yel low.  And, again,  they say:   17 

Presented back to the token.    18 

And there are mighty big page ranges that  they 19 

cite  for  that .   Sometimes they just  cite  page 328, sometimes 20 

330, sometimes 331.  The biggest  range they cite  for that  is  21 

325 to 331.  I  commend Your Honors '  at tention to that  page 22 

range,  and i t  is  just  not  there.    23 
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So what  we said stands despite the incorrect  1 

information or understanding we have from the papers  fi led by 2 

MasterCard.    3 

And there is  more incorrect  understanding that  we 4 

have from MasterCard.   We just  showed that  there is  a  single 5 

enti ty requirement  in  claim 51.  And you've just  heard the 6 

banks --  you've heard MasterCard say that  even i f  that  is  t rue 7 

Davies  shows single enti ty.   This  is  where we get  to who owns 8 

the token,  who directs  and controls the token.   We heard some 9 

things about  that  this  morning.    10 

So let 's  look at  the next  sl ide.   This  is  from Davies  11 

i tself .   It  is  unambiguous,  unambiguous.   I t  is  the customer 12 

who owns the token.   It  is  not  the bank.  This  is  truly a 13 

different  ent i ty.    14 

So from page 329 of Davies ,  "private customer 's  15 

token,"  quoting,  "having personalized the token for  i ts  16 

customer."    17 

The next  s l ide,  please.   The token "can be t racked 18 

i f  lost  by i ts  owner,"  which,  of  course,  has to  be referring to 19 

the consumer who writes  checks losing i t .    20 

And then the next sl ide,  please,  s l ide 28:   "Each 21 

owner can give the token a password."   So there really cannot  22 

be any reasonable dispute that  when you are looking at  Davies  23 

on i ts  own terms, the token belongs to  the check writer ,  to  the 24 

customer.   25 
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JUDGE CHEN:  Is  the token,  counsel ,  issued,  1 

though, by the bank? 2 

MR. GREENSPOON:  It  is .   That 's  r ight .   The 3 

token is  issued by the bank.  There is  some information 4 

preprogrammed into the token which we just  went  over.   I  5 

believe 1 through 8 is  preprogrammed into the token before i t  6 

is  sent  to  the customer.   7 

So we contend then that  Peti t ioner cannot  get  over 8 

two of the most  important  hurdles  to  show anticipation by 9 

Davies .   It  can ' t  show the proper t ime sequencing for  10 

receiving versus issuance of the credential ,  and i t  cannot  show 11 

the s ingle enti ty pract icing the claim.  And there are more 12 

reasons why this  is  going to be clear .    13 

There has been a lot  of  discussion so far  about  the 14 

check being used for  point  of  sale purchases from a merchant ,  15 

on the one hand, and ATM cash withdrawals  on the other.   16 

These are both disclosed in Davies.    17 

And we pointed out  in  either  disclosure there is  no 18 

receipt  of  information identifying the account  --  for 19 

identifying the account  of  the second party.   Let 's  go to the 20 

next ,  number 29,  please.    21 

So let 's  s tart  where that  is  easiest  to  show.  And in 22 

the ATM embodiment  here is  Mr.  Diffie 's  acknowledgment ,  23 

that  the fields  of  the Davies  token, we saw that  as  1 through 24 

16,  the fields  change depending on the environment .   25 
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"Question:   So is  i t  fair ,  then,  to  read that  field 10,  1 

the t ransaction type,  is  going to control  whether the customer 2 

check is  to  be ut i l ized as  a person-to-person check versus an 3 

ATM request?   4 

"Answer:   I  think so."    5 

Go to the next  one,  sl ide 30.   6 

"Question:   So an ATM request  could be a code 7 

that  goes into field 10 that  indicates  that  some of the other 8 

f ields  might  be opt ional  for  this  usage,  r ight?    9 

"Answer:   Yes."   10 

Next  one,  31:    11 

"Question:   So the population of usable fields  in  12 

the format  of  10.22 can differ  as  between a customer check 13 

t ransaction type and ATM transaction type,  correct?    14 

"Answer:   Well ,  since he specifies  that  the 15 

t ransaction type field could include ATM request ,  I  think the 16 

answer is  yes."    17 

32,  please:    18 

"Question:   So you say at  the bottom of 76" --  that  19 

must  be referring to his  declaration --  "that  if  the transaction 20 

type is  an ATM, there would be no need to write payee 21 

identity into the check.   And that 's  field 13,  r ight? 22 

"Answer:   Field 13,  yes."    23 

And then the f inal  one in this  sequence,  33: 24 
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"Question:   Wouldn't  i t  be logical  to  put  that  1 

identity into the check field for  payee identi ty?    2 

"Answer:   Well ,  I  don' t  know that  that 's  3 

necessarily t rue."   4 

Oh, I 'm sorry.   Let 's  go backwards just  a  moment .   5 

I  think I 've gotten a l i t t le  bi t  ahead of myself .   I  mistakenly 6 

put  up some Seth Nielson sl ides.   So let 's  go back one more.   7 

Okay.  Ahead one to 32,  please.   I  apologize,  Your Honors .    8 

What  I  got  ahead of myself  with was that  there was 9 

some discussion where perhaps Dr.  Nielson had himself  10 

admitted,  contrary to Mr.  Diffie ,  that  a  payee identity f ield 11 

might  be required in the ATM embodiment .   So this  is  12 

doctor --  the next one,  32,  is  Dr.  Nielson being polled about  13 

this ,  being probed about  this:    14 

"Question:   So you say at  the bottom of 76" --  of  15 

Dr.  Nielson,  our expert 's  declaration paragraph --  "that  i f  the 16 

t ransaction type is  an ATM, there would be no need to wri te  17 

payee identity into the check.   And that 's  field 13,  r ight?   18 

"Answer:   Field 13,  yes."    19 

Again,  I  apologize for  the confusion,  but  the 20 

significance of  this  sl ide is  that  Dr.  Nielson was emphatically 21 

reaffirming his  original  opinion that  you don't  need payee 22 

identity in  an ATM embodiment .   And then the next sl ide --   23 
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JUDGE WARD:  How do you respond to 1 

Petit ioner 's  argument ,  the hypothetical  presented about  the 2 

Citibank customer going to a Wells  Fargo ATM?   3 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Well ,  the Cit ibank --  we 4 

have to understand that  hypothetical  in  the context  of  how 5 

they are mapping claim 51 onto Davies .    6 

So they would --  MasterCard,  I  think --  this  is  one 7 

of  their  most  confusing contentions --  I  think they would 8 

contend or they are contending now that  somebody's  bank 9 

name has to  go into field 13 in order to  complete the circle 10 

and make sure that  this  all  works.   11 

If  that  were t rue,  how can the owner of  the token 12 

know what  bank stands behind a particular  ATM?  It  just  13 

doesn 't  hang together.    14 

Does that  answer your question,  Your Honor?    15 

JUDGE WARD:  Yes.   Thank you.  16 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Okay.  Final ly,  sl ide 33,  17 

back to what  i t  really means,  sl ide 33 is  the test imony which 18 

we heard referred to earlier  where Dr.  Nielson supposedly 19 

disclaimed understanding and knowledge of really what  is  20 

going on.    21 

That 's  real ly,  in  context ,  not  what  he was saying.   22 

He did have the words "I  don 't  know" in the middle of  his  23 

test imony, but  he didn 't  repudiate his  actual  opinion.    24 
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So after  saying "I don' t  know" he is  asked to say --  1 

he is  asked by counsel  in  cross-examination,  essentially:   2 

Wouldn't  i t  be one way of doing things by putting a payee 3 

identity into field 13 as  part  of  this ATM work flow?   4 

And then he confirms:   "Well ,  the reason why that  5 

seems odd to me is  that  this  has to work for  when you're at  6 

your own ATMs as well .   So what  goes into the payee field 7 

then?  I  don 't  see that  that  makes sense."    8 

So Dr.  Nielson was actual ly saying your questions 9 

are confusing me because the premise within them simply 10 

doesn 't  make sense.    11 

Let 's  go to 34,  please.   Back to the reply we saw 12 

from MasterCard --  this  is  on page 18 --  they contend that  13 

while we did certainly handle the ATM discussion,  they 14 

contend that  we didn' t  handle the discussion in Davies  that  15 

preceded that  of  the customer to merchant 's  check EFT point  16 

of sale t ransaction.    17 

On page 18 of their  reply they claim:  "Fails  to  18 

address  Davies  disclosure of  an electronic check at  a 19 

non-ATM point  of  sale."   Well ,  that 's  not  correct  so let 's  go to 20 

the next  sl ide,  and there is  no such failure.    21 

You will  see in  our Patent  Owner 's  response on 22 

page 46 we --  actually where the first  ful l  paragraph begins on 23 

that  page --  we explicit ly say,  about  the EFT point  of  sale 24 

t ransaction embodiment  they point to ,  a  person 's  name is  not  25 
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the same thing as information for  ident ifying that  person 's  1 

account .   So there is  no waiver of  the argument .    2 

Let 's  go forward one sl ide.   So this  is  Dr.  Nielson 3 

again.   This  is  just  to  reiterate.   Here is  his  testimony on 4 

point:    5 

"Question:   Okay.  So the Davies  check doesn 't  6 

identify an account  of  the person being paid?  That 's  your 7 

point?    8 

"Answer:   Yes.   9 

"Question:   I  got  i t .   Okay.  The payee,  however,  10 

is  identified in the Davies  check?   11 

"Answer:   I t  has  an ident ity f ield for  the payee,  12 

yes."    13 

I  wil l  pause right there.   That 's  all  correct .   But  14 

that 's  al l  going to the fact  that  there could be a name or an 15 

identity,  i t  could be a number standing for  an identity,  on a 16 

Davies  check in field 13.    17 

But  that  only gets you as  far  as  you've got ten in 18 

f igure 7 of  Mr.  Stambler 's  patent  before any of the claim has 19 

begun.  And you don' t  have that  standing for  information for  20 

identifying the account  of  the receiving party.   I t  can 't  do 21 

that .   22 

So there 's  nothing,  in  Davies ,  there is  nothing l ike 23 

the context  that  we bring in Mr. Stambler 's  patent  once we get  24 

to figure 8B.  So that  was a context  where a recipient 's  TIN 25 
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comes into the originator bank during a communication 1 

session where the originator bank unequivocal ly knows who 2 

the recipient 's  bank is ,  because that 's  who the communication 3 

session is  with.    4 

There is  nothing remotely s imilar  in  Davies  to  do,  5 

you know, to t ransform or transmogrify a mere payee identi ty 6 

into something that  would ident ify the payee 's  account .    7 

Let 's  go to the next  one,  number 37.   So this  leads 8 

me to the f inal  missing piece in Davies  that  I  would l ike to 9 

talk about  today.   And that 's  credential .   And, believe me, l ike 10 

I  said,  Peti t ioner has been a moving target .    11 

I  could show you in Mr.  Diff ie 's  declaration,  in  12 

one place when he is  reading credential  onto Davies  he says i t  13 

is  the full  check in i ts  full  glory,  the Davies  check fields  1 14 

through 16.   In  another place he says i t  is  the public key of 15 

the customer within the check.   That 's  his  contention in 16 

another place.   And then in yet  a  third place he says i t  is  the 17 

unfi l led out  check.   So basically f ields  1 through 8.   18 

But  I  don 't  bel ieve that  that  is  a  kind of pet i t ion 19 

that  this  Board has held satisfies  a burden of proof,  a  kind of 20 

declaration that  satisfies  a burden of proof to  prove a patent  21 

obvious,  but  let 's  see where they f inally landed.   22 

So this  is  the reply again.   I 'm quoting from their  23 

reply:   "Pet it ioner rel ies  on the 'blank check '  of  Davies ,  i .e . ,  24 

the nonvariable i tems 1-8 of  the electronic check of f igure 25 
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10.22,  of  which i tems 5-8 can also be referred to as  the 1 

customer 's  certi ficate."   Well ,  that 's  helpful  because we now 2 

know exactly where they are coming from.   3 

So let 's  pause for a  moment  and think about  what  4 

that  means.   What  are the implications of  thinking of the 5 

blank check as  a credential?   It  fi rst  means that  they bel ieve 6 

that  the bank who issues the blank check,  that  would be the 7 

card issuer bank, the customer 's  own bank, is  the so-called 8 

t rusted party that issues the credential .   But  throughout  9 

Mr.  Stambler 's  patent  which has banks mentioned on almost  10 

every page,  we never have a bank described or implied as  11 

being a t rusted party,  certainly not  for  issuing credentials .   I  12 

mean, i t  is  not  l ike the State Department  that  issues passports ,  13 

or  the DMV that  issues driver 's  l icenses.    14 

The t rue t rusted parties  do not  participate in  the 15 

t ransaction.   So the Davies  banks should not  be read as  being 16 

the t rusted party that  has previously issued a credent ial .   And 17 

then there is  a  second point .   Let 's  go to the next  s l ide,  38.    18 

This  was astonishing when I  read this .   This  is  19 

from MasterCard 's  own reply.   This  is  an admission in their  20 

own papers  to  this  Board that  the customer certi ficate is  not  21 

used to determine the identity of  the entity presenting the 22 

check.    23 

I  mean, we should be denying the anticipat ion 24 

ground just  based on this  one sentence from their  brief  25 
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because this  is  an admission that  the customer cert if icate,  1 

f ields  1 through 8 that  they have just  identified as  what  they 2 

call  a  credential ,  is  not  meet ing the claim construction of,  you 3 

know, a col lection of information presented for  the purpose of  4 

determining or establ ishing the ident ity of  a  party.    5 

But  on the merits,  what  they are saying is  that ,  6 

well ,  the technological  information within Davies  that  they 7 

are relying on is  the fact  that  ult imately there is  going to be a 8 

signature.   That 's  f ield 16.   Ultimately the bank, the card 9 

issuer bank, maybe otherwise known as the originator bank, is  10 

going to look at  that  s ignature and is  going to take the public 11 

key that  i t  got  from that  certi ficate and uncode or decode the 12 

signature to  get  what  i t  needs.    13 

And we've heard even today Mr. Will iams talk 14 

about  that  as  ident ifying the person or ident ifying the party,  15 

but  that 's  not  correct .   That  is  not  what  a  signature does in  16 

that  context .   That  is  not  what  the public key for  the signature 17 

is  doing in that  context .   There is  something in this art  known 18 

as  data origin authent ication,  data origin authentication.    19 

So when you use a public key to uncode a 20 

signature and everything checks out ,  you 've done data origin 21 

authent ication,  you've confirmed that  a  part icular  chunk of 22 

data that  you have as  proposed to you as  a candidate coming 23 

from a person actually has come from a person.    24 
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There is  another thing that  happens that  is  well  1 

recognized but  beyond the scope here that 's  cal led 2 

nonrepudiation,  but  that 's  also a different  issue,  but  that 's  3 

what  the s ignature check is .   It  is  data origin authent icat ion.    4 

For example,  i f  I  were to try to  get into this  very 5 

building,  and I  handed Mr. Eliot  Williams my passport ,  I  6 

handed him my passport ,  and he performed data off  --  and,  by 7 

the way, he had a chunk of information and he wanted to 8 

verify i t  was my handwrit ing and my signature on a 9 

handwrit ten note --  he could look at  my passport  and look at  10 

the handwri tten information and verify the data origin of  that  11 

information.    12 

He could do that  with,  you know, a plain 13 

signature,  not  even the s ignature on my passport .   But  what  I  14 

cannot  do at  that  point  is  get  into this  bui lding when 15 

Mr. Williams swears  on a stack of bibles  that  this  handwrit ten 16 

note is  actual ly signed by me.  Mr.  Wil liams can 't  get  into this  17 

building by swearing on a stack of bibles  that  I  handed him an 18 

authent ic note.    19 

So that 's  why we have a huge disconnect  on 20 

credential .   A credential  is  something presented for  the 21 

purposes of  establ ishing the identi ty of  a  party.   The context  22 

from the patent  specif ication is  passports ,  motor vehicle 23 

issued driver 's  l icenses and the l ike.    24 
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To put  that  into the context  of ,  you know, an 1 

asymmetric cryptography public key/signature pair ,  i t  really 2 

goes wildly beyond the original  intent  of  the word credential  3 

and how it 's  used in the patent .    4 

So without  a  doubt  Davies  does not  ant icipate.   We 5 

don' t  see that  there has been any sol id quantum of proof that  6 

would meet  MasterCard 's  burden to prove that  Davies  is  7 

anticipated.    8 

So what  about  obviousness?   So let  recap what  9 

obviousness is  all  about .   And, of  course,  the Board knows 10 

very well  that  a  Peti t ioner would have to show that  there are 11 

reasons in  the art  to  modify a s ingle or  multiple references to  12 

arrive at  the claimed invention.   I 'm going to emphasize those 13 

f inal  words.    14 

I  see a bl inking l ight .   15 

JUDGE MOORE:  You have about  two minutes .   16 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Two minutes .   Okay.  So 17 

arrive at  the claimed invention is  really the key in the case 18 

law.  You can have a collect ion of prior  art  that  moves in a 19 

particular  direction but  perhaps doesn 't  move toward the 20 

claimed invention.    21 

So if  the end resul t  of  combining things or  the 22 

motivat ion in the art  is  to  create,  let 's  say,  a  Frankenstein 23 

monster  of  a  system that  is  not  the claimed invention,  the test  24 

is  not  met .    25 
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So, fi rst  off ,  there is  not  a  single secondary 1 

reference offered to fi l l  the gaps,  just  identified in my 2 

presentation,  of  what  we saw missing in Davies .   Let 's  go to 3 

the next  sl ide.  4 

Secondly,  very quickly,  I  will  point  out  that  the 5 

Inst i tut ion Decision rejected,  did not  al low this  proceeding to 6 

go forward on Meyer by i tself .   So there is  no Sect ion 103 7 

argument  on Meyer al lowed in this proceeding.    8 

Next  s l ide,  or  one more,  f inally.   I  apologize.   I  9 

will  just  tell  you, I  wil l  point  to  Your Honors,  I  will  commend 10 

your attent ion to pages 20 to 21 of the reply where there is  an 11 

attempt to  put  back in a Meyer 's  alone Sect ion 103 argument ,  12 

and I  contend that  is  not  proper.    13 

But  dril l ing to the meri ts ,  the only things left  to  14 

talk about  are claims 55 and 56,  and I  wil l  talk as  long as  I  15 

can and make myself  available for  quest ions on those.   And 16 

that 's  because for claim 51 there is  nothing in Meyer used to 17 

f i l l  the gaps in Davies .   And that  holds t rue for  claim 53 as  18 

well .    19 

So 55 and 56 should be held patentable based on 20 

everything we just  went  through.  We don't  even need to get  to 21 

the proposed combination.   But  if  we get  to  claim 55 we 22 

showed the evidence that  the hash function would not  be used 23 

for  a  short  message l ike funds t ransfer .   We had that on the 24 

last  sl ide from Mr. Diff ie 's  testimony.   25 
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And, final ly,  we've heard an argument  for  claim 55 1 

that  the signature of  i tself  can be an error detection code.   2 

That  only gets  them so far .   The claim language talks  about  3 

using the error  detection code.   There is  no evidence in the 4 

record that  a  signature is  actually used for  error  detection.    5 

And, of  course,  I 'm avai lable for  quest ions,  Your 6 

Honors .    7 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    8 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Yes.   9 

JUDGE CHEN:  I  do have one follow-up.  In  your 10 

opposit ion you argued cit ing the case of  Kinetic Concepts  as  11 

one reason why Davies  and Meyer were not  necessari ly 12 

combinable.    13 

And what  is  your response to the argument  in  the 14 

reply at  pages 21 and 22 to that  effect  and,  in  addi tion,  the 15 

content  of  the Diff ie  declaration?  I 'm looking at ,  I  believe,  16 

paragraphs 112 through 118 there.    17 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Right .   I  will  s tart  with the 18 

last  part ,  the Diffie  declaration.   I  think we did a very good 19 

job briefing why what  we saw in his  declarat ion,  insofar  as  a 20 

motivat ion to combine contention,  was conclusory.    21 

I t  was the ipse dixi t  of  an expert ,  and i t  really 22 

didn 't  give any substance other than to say,  well ,  these things 23 

exist  and so they were combinable.   24 
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In essence that 's  what  they were doing.   That 's  1 

what  Mr.  Diffie 's  declaration paragraph stood for  to  us .   And 2 

we've briefed that .    3 

As far  as  the response to pages 21 and 22 trying to 4 

distinguish Kinetic,  and there is  another case we cited,  5 

Broadcom, to our mind they didn 't  succeed.   What  they did is  6 

they cited Boston Scientific ,  which is  a  decision of this  7 

Board.   I  believe i t  might  have been in an ex parte or  an 8 

original  application appeal ,  but  I  may be wrong, but  in  any 9 

case i t 's  a  PTAB decision which did del ineate an exception to 10 

the principles  ci ted in Kinetic,  and on i ts  own facts i t  did 11 

distinguish Kinetic.    12 

But  what  you saw there was a l ist  of  chemical ,  13 

chemistry genuses in  the primary reference.   And then the 14 

secondary reference was brought  in to  exemplify one of the 15 

species  within the genuses,  and that  as  a  combinat ion 16 

happened to read on the claim, as  I understand that  decision.    17 

So the distinct ion made in Boston Scientific  just  18 

doesn 't  apply here.   We don't  have anything l ike a l ist  of  19 

chemical  genuses where the similarity of  the references brings 20 

them closer together as  far  as  a motive or  a  reason to combine 21 

because,  you know, i t 's  l ike i t  f i ts  l ike a glove.    22 

And instead we have a s i tuation where we have 23 

Meyer,  which is  i ts  own sort  of  teaching reference,  not  an 24 

engineering specif icat ion.   Davies , i ts  own teaching reference,  25 



Case CBM2015-00044 
Patent 5,793,302 
 

 78 

not  an engineering specification.   They are both very well  1 

satisf ied with how much detail  each respectively puts  into 2 

their  textbooks.    3 

And we also made the point  in  our briefing that  4 

Davies  in  several places actually quotes  or  recites  back to 5 

Meyer,  which was the earlier  reference.   And so our posit ion 6 

was,  of  course,  whatever was interesting within Meyer that  7 

Davies  might  have been motivated to combine,  he already sort  8 

of ,  you know, quoted i t .    9 

Does that  answer your question,  Your Honor?    10 

JUDGE CHEN:  One last  question.   Does the 11 

citation that  you just  mentioned of Meyer and Davies ,  does 12 

that  have any relevance to the old teaching,  suggestion,  13 

motivat ion to combine theme?   14 

MR. GREENSPOON:  Only the sort  of  negative 15 

implication that  I  just  mentioned.  I  don 't  think we are so 16 

much relying on rebut ting a teaching suggestion or 17 

motivat ion.   We're more in tune and harmonized with how 18 

KSR expresses the obviousness law.   19 

So what  we were plumbing the references for  was 20 

a reason to combine or a  reason to modify,  notwithstanding 21 

whether that 's  in  the form of a teaching,  suggestion or 22 

motivat ion.    23 

JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.   24 
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MR. GREENSPOON:  If  there are no further 1 

quest ions,  Your Honors ,  I  will  give the podium back to 2 

Mr.  Williams.  3 

(Pause) 4 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So I  did want  to address  a few 5 

of  the points  made.   6 

JUDGE MOORE:  All  r ight .   And before you 7 

begin,  I  think we gave Patent  Owner about  four extra minutes  8 

for  questions there at  the end.    9 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Okay. 10 

JUDGE MOORE:  So we will  certainly give you 11 

that  t ime as  well ,  so you have 22 minutes .   12 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you, Your Honor.   13 

Let  me begin where he did,  which was to start  at  14 

the 50,000 foot  level .   He began his  presentation by saying 15 

that  in  Mr.  Diffie we have a great  witness  but  he is  the wrong 16 

guy for this  technology.   17 

And then he began to argue that  the claims,  or  the 18 

Stambler patent  in  particular  doesn 't  relate to  public key 19 

cryptography which Mr. Diffie  invented.   So I  did want  to  20 

comment on that  actually.    21 

I  wil l  point  out  that  Mr.  Diffie  is  an inductee to  22 

the National  Inventors  Hall  of  Fame, which is  here in  the 23 

Patent  Office.   I  visi ted this  morning when we were wait ing 24 

for  the hearing room to open.   25 
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And I  noticed that  he is  credited there for  1 

inventing the technology used in SSL, which is  Secure Socket  2 

Layer encryption for  the Internet .    3 

I  don 't  think i t  wil l  surprise you, i f  you look at  4 

Exhibit  1002 in the record,  which is  the complaint  in  the 5 

District  Court  case,  to  see that  the Patent  Owner has asserted 6 

the patent  against  SSL, which is  public/private key 7 

cryptography of course.   And that 's  at  paragraph 9 of Exhibit  8 

1002.   9 

So I  think i t  is  just  wrong for them to come to the 10 

Board and now suggest  that  they have never taken the view 11 

that  these claims cover public key cryptography or that  with 12 

Diffie  is  the wrong expert .   In  fact ,  i t  is  exact ly the opposite.   13 

That 's  exactly what  they're saying the claims covered,  which 14 

is  how we wound up in the Patent  Office in  the fi rs t  place.    15 

So let  me return to,  I  think,  the big dispute that  16 

has generated most  of  the questions today,  which is  whether 17 

these claims require a s ingle enti ty or  not .   And, you know, 18 

Mr. Greenspoon described this  as  a diff icult  question.   I  think 19 

i t  is  actually quite easy.    20 

There are two embodiments  disclosed in the 21 

specificat ion for  how you performed these steps.   One of those 22 

embodiments ,  the one that  is  actually depicted in the f igures ,  23 

has mult iple entit ies  performing the claim steps,  and 24 
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another embodiment  has one enti ty performing the claim 1 

steps.    2 

So what  is  the most  logical  way to read the claim?  3 

We say,  Mr.  Diffie  has said,  the most  logical  way is you read 4 

the claims to cover both embodiments .   Even their  own expert  5 

has admitted --  Judge Chen, I  think you found and pointed out  6 

this  test imony in your questioning earlier  --  their  expert  has 7 

admitted that  the language of the claim i tself  doesn't  seem to 8 

require that  this  be done with a single ent i ty,  and that  i t  is  9 

only because the claim, the specification that  doesn 't  describe 10 

or enable such a thing.    11 

But  the obvious response to that  which is  never 12 

answered and which I  spent  a  fair  amount  of  t ime in Mr.  13 

Nielson 's  deposit ion trying to get  him to answer,  is  how he 14 

can say that  in  view of the clear  teachings of  the figures 15 

where the steps are performed by mult iple entit ies .    16 

And he never answers that  quest ion,  which is  why, 17 

as  we point  out  in  the reply brief ,  i f  you read his  test imony, i t  18 

is  inconsistent .   He goes back and forth about  whether the 19 

claims language requires  this  or  not ,  whether i t  is  based on 20 

writ ten descript ion or not .   I  almost  wish I  had taken a 21 

videotape of  his  deposit ion.   I  think i t  would be revealing.    22 

But  suffice i t  to  say,  there is  never a clear  answer 23 

given from him at  any point  as  to  what  i t  is  in  the 24 
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specificat ion that has convinced him that  the claims cannot  1 

cover the embodiment  that 's  described in the figures.    2 

So I  think i t  is  a  very easy case.   The case law is  3 

overwhelmingly clear  that  you don't  read the claims to 4 

exclude a preferred embodiment .   You certainly don't  read the 5 

claims to exclude the preferred embodiment  in  favor of  an 6 

alternative embodiment  without  some real ly good reason in 7 

the claim language for  doing so.   And, again,  there has been 8 

no reason provided in the claim language that  I  think would 9 

justi fy such a radical  departure from the t raditional  law of 10 

claim construction.   11 

Let  me talk for  a  moment ,  unless  there are further 12 

quest ions about  the claim construct ion issue,  I  want to  talk 13 

about  this  issue of  the token and how it  is  used in the Davies  14 

disclosure,  which I  think is  our sl ide 33 from the 15 

demonstratives.    16 

So we had an exchange about  this  earlier  in  my 17 

presentation,  and Patent  Owner 's  counsel  has now suggested 18 

that  we are somehow misreading Davies  or  reading into 19 

Davies  something that  is  not  there in  the transaction f low.   20 

And the issue is  this:   Does Davies describe that  21 

the token,  when it  is  being used to make this  t ransaction 22 

happen, is  i t  gett ing information from the terminal  and does 23 

the terminal  get  information from the token?  And the answer 24 

is  clearly yes.   Slide 33 has those disclosures .    25 
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So fi rst  I  wil l  note the second one on the slide,  1 

which is  that  the check enters  the card --  remember, the card 2 

here is  the token --  enters  the card from the terminal.   And 3 

then I  will  skip to the last  bul let  there,  which is  that  the 4 

customer 's  request  is  formed into a message and presented to 5 

the token.   Again,  this  is  describing what  is  happening at  the 6 

terminal .   So clearly in  Davies  we know that  the token is  7 

receiving the check from the terminal .    8 

Now, i t  is  also the case that  the terminal  as  i t  is  9 

generating this  check message to get  sent  to  the token for  10 

signing needs some data from the token.  That 's  clear .    11 

So i f  the cri t ique is  that  Davies  doesn 't  spel l  out  in  12 

exquisite  detail  the exact  sequence of information flow, which 13 

data is  copied out of  the card into the terminal ,  which data 14 

goes into the terminal  for  signing,  then,  you know, that 's  fine.   15 

They can make that  argument  all  they want .    16 

But  the overwhelming evidence in the record is  17 

that  the token does get  the enti re message from the terminal .   18 

So we know i t  receives that  check data,  even if  we know 19 

nothing else about  this  card,  we know that  i t  receives the 20 

check data from the terminal .   That 's  sufficient  to  perform 21 

that  receiving step.   And that  essent ially makes clear  that  the 22 

receiving step is  performed in Davies .    23 

Patent  Owner then said,  gett ing back into the 24 

Davies  disclosure,  so in  response --  so we argued, as  I  said,  25 
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that  even i f  you were to assume that  the claim required a 1 

single entity to  perform al l  the steps,  Davies  discloses that .   2 

And I  showed you that  earlier .   Their  attack to that  response is 3 

that  Davies  teaches that  the token is  owned by the bank.   4 

So,  fi rst  of  all ,  I  disagree that  any of the excerpts  5 

of  Davies  that  he pointed to earlier show that  the token is  6 

owned by the bank.  They say things about  the token owner 7 

but  they never say who that  person actually is .   You can,  I  8 

guess,  infer  that  the owner is  the customer.   I t  is  his 9 

argument .    10 

Even if  that  were t rue,  you know, so what?  It  11 

doesn 't  change my argument .   The point  is  i t  is  not  l ike the 12 

owner of  that  token can reprogram i t  to  do whatever they 13 

want .   Davies  make that  clear .   The token is  programmed by 14 

the issuer.   And it  specifically talks  about  the issuer as  the 15 

token's  master .   So there is  no doubt  at  al l  that  the token is  16 

under the control  of  the issuer bank in Davies .    17 

There was an argument  made,  a  couple arguments  18 

made about  the credential  that  I  want  to  talk about .   First  let 's  19 

talk about  the sequence of s teps in  the credential .    20 

So I  already explained to you from the s lide 33 21 

how it  is  that  the receiving step is  performed in Davies ,  and in 22 

particular  how the token receives the information on the 23 

check,  including the owner 's  ident ity at  the t ime the 24 

t ransaction is  occurring.   That  necessarily means that  that  is  25 
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occurring after  the credential  is  issued.   Remember,  the 1 

credential  is  issued when you get  the token in the f irst  place.    2 

So you've got  the token from the bank.  That 's  3 

your previously-received credential .   You then take, your 4 

previously-issued credential ,  you then take the token to a bank 5 

to  do a transaction or to  a merchant  to  do a t ransact ion.    6 

At  the t ime you do that  transaction then the 7 

terminal  is  going to assemble that  data for  you, put  i t  into the 8 

token,  the token signs i t ,  and then the terminal  sends that  9 

signed message off  into the network.   That 's  the receiving 10 

step.    11 

So the sequence is  clearly described in Davies ,  12 

exact ly the way that  Patent  Owner suggested i t  must be to  13 

satisfy the claim.    14 

The other thing that  Patent  Owner argues about  15 

credential ,  and he t ries  to  make much of an admission in our 16 

reply brief ,  that  in  Davies  you don' t  present  this  check to 17 

authent icate the person who is  presenting the check,  which is  18 

t rue.   I t  doesn 't  make any difference,  however,  for  this  case.    19 

The whole point  of  Davies  is  you've got  a  20 

credential  on the check that  authent icates  the identity of  the 21 

person who wrote the check.   That 's  the identity of  the person 22 

that  you're t rying to verify.   You want  to  make sure,  i f  I  have 23 

a check signed by Eliot  Williams, that  i t  was actually s igned 24 

by Eliot  Will iams.   25 
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That 's  what  the claim is  requiring and that 's  1 

exact ly what  Davies  does.   It  doesn 't  matter  if  I  write  a  check 2 

to a fr iend of mine,  Rob Scheinfeld,  he takes the check in.   He 3 

is  present ing the check not  to  ident ify himself .   He is  4 

presenting the check to ident ify me saying this  is  a  check 5 

writ ten by Eliot  Wil liams, you can verify his  signature and,  6 

once you do,  give me the money.   7 

That 's  what  he is  t rying to do when he presents  8 

that  check.   That 's  what  Davies  is  all  about .   And that 's  what  9 

the claim is  all  about .   10 

So I  want  to  talk about  the ATM embodiment  in  11 

respect  to  the claim element  relating to the ident ity of  the 12 

second party just  very briefly again,  not  to  beat  a  dead horse 13 

here,  but  there was an argument  made about  Dr.  Nielson 's  14 

test imony at  his  deposi t ion that  somehow he says that  our 15 

reading of the claim in Davies  doesn 't  make sense because the 16 

process  has to  work i f  you were to present  the card at  your 17 

own ATM.   18 

So i f  I  as  a  Citibank customer go to Cit ibank and 19 

present  the card,  in  that  si tuation you wouldn 't  need to know 20 

the identity,  the payee identity.   You wouldn 't  need to know 21 

Citibank.   22 

Okay.  Maybe that 's  true but  that 's  not  the example 23 

we rely on.   That 's  not  the example that 's  given in Davies .   24 

Davies  gives an example of  going to a Bank A to receive 25 
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money when your account  is  at  Bank B.  And in that  s i tuation 1 

everyone admits  you have got  to  know who Bank A is .    2 

He then crit iques Davies ,  Mr.  Greenspoon 3 

crit iques Davies  with I  think a new argument  that  had never 4 

been made in the record,  but  that  somehow the example 5 

wouldn 't  make sense because how would you know when you 6 

go to the ATM who the recipient  is?   And the answer is  7 

obvious.   It  is  the recipient  --  i t 's  the terminal  that  knows 8 

where i t  is .   Right?    9 

When you go to Wells  Fargo 's  ATM, that 's  the 10 

terminal .   That  terminal  knows you are at  a  Wells  Fargo ATM.  11 

I t  will  know that  i t ' s  the recipient  of  the money if  there is  12 

going to be a t ransaction here.    13 

So that 's  how the information gets  populated.   14 

There is  no mystery to i t  at  all .   And I  think that  is  clear  just  15 

from a common sense understanding of how banking works.   16 

So I  think that  answers  the quest ion as  to  the ATM 17 

embodiment .    18 

I  wil l  just  mention the claim 55 issue briefly.   I  19 

think Mr. Greenspoon argued that  somehow there was 20 

evidence in the record that  you wouldn't  use a hash with 21 

Davies .   There is  some evidence that  there are occasions in  22 

doing digital  s ignatures  where you might  not  hash or there 23 

might  be reasons not  to  hash.    24 
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I  don 't  disagree or  quibble with any of that .   Our 1 

point  is  i t  is  i rrelevant  because Davies  expressly teaches you 2 

to do the hash.   Even if  that  is  a  bad idea --  which,  you know, 3 

we don't  think i t  is  --  but  even i f  you assume that  there was 4 

evidence that  hashing in some cases was a bad idea,  Davies  5 

teaches you to do i t .   So the only quest ion is  when you do 6 

that ,  are you doing error  detection code? 7 

And, you know, Nechvatal  as  prior  art  clearly 8 

supplies  that  teaching,  the experts  don' t  seem to disagree,  that  9 

the hash is  an error  detect ion code.   So that 's  the combination.    10 

I t 's  not  l ike we're saying that  you would change 11 

the way Davies  is  operating in any way.  We're saying you use 12 

Davies  exact ly as Davies  says to  be used.   You do the hash 13 

and, when you do that ,  you pract ice claim 55.   14 

JUDGE CHEN:  Counsel?    15 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.   16 

JUDGE CHEN:  So I  heard Patent  Owner's  counsel  17 

argue to the effect  that  nothing in Meyer f i l ls  in  the gaps that  18 

they are arguing are present  in  Davies .    19 

What 's  your response to that  regarding Meyer?   20 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yeah, well ,  again,  we believe 21 

there are no gaps in Davies .   So to that  extent  I  guess  i t  22 

doesn 't  really matter .   There is  no gaps we've identif ied in 23 

Davies  that  would need to be fi l led by Meyer.    24 
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We do rely on Meyer for  claim 56.  And I  didn 't  1 

take his  comment about  that  to  reference claim 56,  but ,  I  2 

mean, I  can talk about  claim 56 in just  a  moment .   But  with 3 

respect  to  claims 51 through 55 at  least ,  we don't  need Meyer.   4 

I t  is  an alternative ground that  we have in the peti t ion 5 

obviously that  you could combine Davies  with Meyer.    6 

And when you do that  you would get  --  there is  7 

really no disclosures  in  Meyer that  are significantly different  8 

than Davies .   The primary difference is  that  Meyer goes into a 9 

l i t t le  more detail  regarding the non-public key cryptography 10 

approach to funds t ransfer .    11 

So Meyer talks  about  what  he cal ls  a  message 12 

authent ication code,  which is  very similar  to  a digital  13 

signature.   It  is  a  cryptographic operation performed using a 14 

key,  and you do that  operation on the t ransact ion data,  15 

including in that  case.    16 

So the one difference you might  see in  Meyer there 17 

is  when he talks  about  the MAC one of the things --  the 18 

Message Authentication Code --  one of  the things he suggests  19 

that  you specif ical ly use as  an input  into the Message 20 

Authentication Code is  the identi ty of  the s igner,  of  the 21 

person who is ,  you know, who is  essentially writ ing the check 22 

or who is  ini t iating the funds t ransfer .    23 

That 's  a  l i t t le  bi t  different  from Davies  where,  24 

when you go back and look at  the check data,  that 's  not  one of  25 
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the pieces of  information that  gets  signed at  the t ime of 1 

writ ing the check.    2 

So we would say i t  would be obvious to  include 3 

that  in  the variable information,  either  instead of or as  well  as  4 

the blank check.   But  essent ial ly there is  no significant  5 

deviation in the teachings between Meyer and Davies  with 6 

respect  to  how funds t ransfer  would work either  in  a 7 

public/private key cryptography system or in  a symmetric key 8 

cryptography system.  9 

JUDGE CHEN:  Does Petit ioner advocate any one 10 

or more of  i ts  grounds as  being s tronger than the others?   11 

MR. WILLIAMS:  No, I  don ' t  think that  any are 12 

stronger,  but  obviously,  as  you saw today, I  was able to  show 13 

that  al l  of  the claims are invalid without  ever talking about  14 

Meyer.    15 

So I  would say the anticipation ground over Davies 16 

is  certainly the strongest ,  and the ground where claim 55 is  17 

shown by Davies , plus the teachings that  one of  ordinary ski l l  18 

in the art  would know from reading Nechvatal ,  as  well  as ,  for  19 

claim 56, the teaching of Davies  and the knowledge that  one 20 

of ordinary ski l l  in  the art  would get  from Fischer and 21 

Piosenka,  are very easy to understand,  use Davies  exactly as  22 

Davies  is  writ ten, except  supply some additional  background 23 

information that  would be known to someone of ski l l  in  the art  24 

that  isn 't  necessarily explicit  in  Davies .   25 
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JUDGE CHEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  1 

MR. WILLIAMS:  So that  essent ially is  i t .   I  didn 't  2 

have anything further in  response to Patent  Owner's  3 

presentation today.   4 

I  would just  want to  suggest ,  with respect  to  Mr.  5 

Diffie 's  testimony regarding a single enti ty,  I  would 6 

encourage the Board to read that  ent ire colloquy between 7 

counsel  and Mr. Diffie  that  begins around page 15,  l ine 7,  and 8 

I  think you will  see very clearly that ,  you know, the confusion 9 

I  was referring to is  just  that  Mr.  Diffie  was confused about  10 

what  Mr.  Greenspoon was asking him, what  i t  is  he was t rying 11 

to find out .    12 

Was he t rying to f ind out  what 's  disclosed in 13 

f igure 8B or is  he t rying to find out  what 's  disclosed in figure 14 

8B as modified by what  is  in  column 7?   15 

Mr. Diffie  made explici t  his  understanding was he 16 

was asking about  what  is  in  figure 8B as modified by what  is  17 

in column 7.   And that  obviously is  the alternative 18 

embodiment  that  is  much different  than what 's  shown as figure 19 

8B.   20 

When asked about  figure 8B by i tself ,  Mr.  Diffie  21 

twice said that  i t  didn 't  disclose al l  of  the steps being 22 

performed by the originating bank.  23 

So unless  the Board has any further quest ions,  I  24 

would yield back the remainder of  my t ime.  25 
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JUDGE MOORE:  Okay.  Hearing none from the 1 

remote judges,  I  want  to  thank the parties  for  coming here 2 

today.   We appreciate your presentations.   We certainly wil l  3 

take them under advisement .    4 

And with that ,  this  hearing is  adjourned.   5 

(Whereupon, at  3:41 p.m.,  the hearing was 6 

adjourned.) 7 

 


